2017/2020

NATIONAL COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT for shops between Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL

Translation - not legally binding. In case of uncertainties in the translation, the Danish original version will take precedence.

CONTENTS

SECTION 1. WORKING HOURS	6
1. Planning working hours etc	6
2. Weekday holidays	9
3. Illness and holiday	
4. Working hours, temporary employees and agency staff	
5. Shift allowance	10
6. Overtime work	10
7. Flexible working hours	11

1. Personal pay	12
2. Pay, skilled worker	12
3. Pay, shop assistant	12
4. Pay, unskilled worker	
5. Length of service supplement	
6. Pay, part-time	
 Pay, temporary employees and agency staff 	
8. Pay, young people under 18	
9. Pay, trainees	
10. Pay, trainee shop assistants	
11. Pay, students on short-cycle higher education programmes	
12. Flexible Wage Account	
13. Pay systems (bonus, commission, performance-related pay, etc.)	
14. Deferred payment of wages	
15. Wage calculation for incomplete months	
16. Subscription deduction	19

SECTION 4. PENSION	
1. Pension rates	20
2. Basis for calculation	20
3. Conditions of entitlement to a pension	
4. Change of pension provider	
5. Insurance – trainees	

SECTION 5. ABSENCE 23 1. Holiday 23 2. Extra days off. 23

	3. Illness	24
	4. Childbirth (pregnancy, adoption and leave)	24
	5. Children's illness	27
	6. Children's admission to hospital	
	7. Time off for dependants	28
	8. Time off due to force majeure	
SE	CTION 6. TRAINEES	28
	1. Trainees	28
	2. Students on short-cycle higher education programmes	31
SE	CTION 7. TRAINING	32
SE	CTION 7. TRAINING 1. Continuing training	
SE		
SE	1. Continuing training	
SE	 Continuing training 2. 	32
SE	1. Continuing training 2. Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL Training	32 35
	1. Continuing training 2. Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL Training and Cooperation Fund	32 35 36
	 Continuing training 2. Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL Training and Cooperation Fund 3. DA/LO Development Fund 	32 35 36 36
	 Continuing training Continuing training Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL Training and Cooperation Fund DA/LO Development Fund CTION 8. TRADE UNION REPRESENTATIVES 	32 35 36 36

4. Remuneration of elected trade union representatives	
5. Access to IT and the Internet	
6. Local trade union branches, notices	
7. Refresher training on termination of trade union representative duties	
8. Dismissal of a trade union representative	.40
SECTION 9. DISPUTES	.41
1. Disputes	. 41
2. Organisation meeting	.42
3. General questions	.42
4. Term	.42
SECTION 10. WORKING ENVIRONMENT	.42
SECTION 11. PERSONAL NOTICE PERIODS	.43
1. Salaried employees	
2. Non-salaried employees	
3. Time off in the event of termination	
SECTION 12. ENTRY INTO FORCE AND TERMINATION OF THE COLLECTIVE A	
1. 50 per cent rule	
 Scope of the collective agreement	
3. Term of the conective agreement	•47
EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS	.48
Agreement on employment contracts	.48
WORKING ENVIRONMENT	
Agreement on night work and health checks	.48
WORKING HOURS	.49
Agreement on implementing the EU Working Time Directive	
(Council Directive of 23 November 1993)	.49
Agreement on implementing the EU Part-time Work Directive	
(Council Directive of 15 December 1997 on part-time work)	. 51
Agreement on retirement scheme	.54
Agreement on weekday holiday rules for flexjob employees	.55
Agreement on increased working hours	· 55
Agreement on amendment to working hours schedule period	
Agreement on night work	.56
ELECTRONIC DOCUMENTS	56
Agreement on electronic documents	
TRAINEES	
Agreement on transitional rules for new wage determination for trainees.	• 57
HOLIDAY	.57
Agreement on holiday	
ENTRY INTO FORCE AND TERMINATION OF COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT ETC	
Agreement on the understanding of the 50 per cent rule	
Agreement on non-standard agreements	. 01
EQUAL PAY	.61
Agreement on equal pay	. 61
Agreement on implementing the Danish Equal Pay Act	.62
PAY65	
Agreement on the pay of trainee shop assistants and shop assistants	65
Agreement on the pay of trainee shop assistants and shop assistants Agreement on phasing in Flexible Wage Account contributions	
MIDDLE MANAGERS	
Agreement on the understanding of the Agreement on middle managers	.67

Agreement on pension schemes 74 Guidance on change of pension provider 74 - Shop Worker' Collective Agreement and Salaried Employees' Collective Agreement 79 Collective agreement on pension terms for employees in flexjobs 62 FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT ON HARASSMENT AND VIOLENCE 83 Agreement on implementing the framework agreement on harassment and violence at work 83 Agreement on implementing the EU Fixed-term Work Directive 83 Council Directive of 28 June 1999) 83 Agreement on the understanding of the Agreement on implementing the EU Fixed-term Work Directive (Council Directive of 28 June 1999) 86 TRADE UNION REPRESENTATIVES 87 Trade union agreement on the dismissal of trade union representatives setc. 87 87 Agreement on the code for agreements with foreign workers 88 Agreement on the dismissal of trade union representatives 87 FOREIGN WORKERS 88 Agreement on the code for agreement tuft on the skills development fund 93 Agreement on bandling failure to report to/ 93 Agreement on training omnittees etc. 95 Agreement on agreed qualification improvement 96 Agreement on analling failure to report to/ 93	PENSION	74
Guidance on change of pension provider - shop Workers' Collective Agreement an Salaried Employees' Collective Agreement for Trade, Knowledge and Service 72 Collective agreement on pension terms for employees in flexjobs 83 Agreement on implementing the framework agreement on harassment and violence at work 83 Agreement on implementing the EU Fixed-term Work Directive (Council Directive of 28 June 1999) 83 Agreement on the uderstanding of the Agreement on implementing the EU Fixed-term Work Directive (Council Directive of 28 June 1999) 86 TRADE UNION REPRESENTATIVES 87 Trade union agreement on the dismissal of trade union representatives etc.87 87 Agreement on the code for agreements with foreign workers 88 Agreement on the skills development fund 93 Agreement on agreed qualification improvement 95 Agreement on agreed qualification improvement 97 VELFARE 98 Agreement on velfare 98 Agreement on agreed qualification improvement 97 VELFARE 98		
 Shop Workers' Collective Agreement and Salaried Employees' Collective Agreement for Trade, Knowledge and Service		/4
for Trade, Knowledge and Service		Agreement
Collective agreement on pension terms for employees in flexjobs		
FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT ON HARASSMENT AND VIOLENCE 83 Agreement on implementing the framework agreement on harassment and violence at work 83 FIXED-TERM WORK 83 Agreement on implementing the EU Fixed-term Work Directive (Council Directive of 28 June 1999) 83 Agreement on the understanding of the Agreement on implementing the EU Fixed-term Work Directive (Council Directive of 28 June 1999) 86 TRADE UNION REPRESENTATIVES 87 Trade union agreement on the dissisal of trade union representatives etc. 87 87 Agreement on the code for agreements with foreign workers 88 TRAINING ETC 88 Agreement on the skills development fund 93 Agreement on the skills development fund 93 Agreement on intraining and cooperation activities 95 Agreement on instraining and cooperation activities 95 Agreement on maining or skills development funds) 96 Agreement on maining and cooperation activities 96 Agreement on instraining and cooperation activities 96 Agreement on instraining and cooperation activities 95 Agreement on instraining and cooperation activities 96 Agreement on instraining and cooperation activities 96	-	
Agreement on implementing the framework agreement on harassment and violence at work 83 FIXED-TERN WORK 83 Agreement on implementing the EU Fixed-term Work Directive (Council Directive of 28 June 1999) Agreement on the understanding of the Agreement on implementing the EU Fixed-term Work Directive (Council Directive of 28 June 1999)		
FIXED-TERM WORK	FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT ON HARASSMENT AND VIOLENCE	83
Agreement on implementing the EU Fixed-term Work Directive 83 Agreement on the understanding of the Agreement on implementing the EU Fixed-term Work Directive (Council Directive of 28 June 1999)	Agreement on implementing the framework agreement on harassment an	d violence at work 83
Agreement on implementing the EU Fixed-term Work Directive 83 Agreement on the understanding of the Agreement on implementing the EU Fixed-term Work Directive (Council Directive of 28 June 1999)		02
(Council Directive of 28 June 1999) 83 Agreement on the understanding of the Agreement on implementing the EU Fixed-term Work Directive (Council Directive of 28 June 1999)		83
Agreement on the understanding of the Agreement on implementing the EU Fixed-term Work Directive (Council Directive of 28 June 1999)		0.
TRADE UNION REPRESENTATIVES		
Trade union agreement on the dismissal of trade union representatives 87 Agreement on regional trade union representatives 87 FOREIGN WORKERS 88 Agreement on the code for agreements with foreign workers 88 TRAINING ETC 88 Agreement on the skills development fund 93 Agreement on derogations from the Agreement on the skills development fund 93 Agreement on handling failure to report to/ 93 pay into the Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL skills development fund 93 Agreement on raining committees etc. 95 (self-administration of skills development funds) 96 Agreement on welfare 98 Agreement on welfare 98 Agreement on information relating to the use of agency staff 104		86
Trade union agreement on the dismissal of trade union representatives 87 Agreement on regional trade union representatives 87 FOREIGN WORKERS 88 Agreement on the code for agreements with foreign workers 88 TRAINING ETC 88 Agreement on the skills development fund 93 Agreement on derogations from the Agreement on the skills development fund 93 Agreement on handling failure to report to/ 93 pay into the Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL skills development fund 93 Agreement on raining committees etc. 95 (self-administration of skills development funds) 96 Agreement on welfare 98 Agreement on welfare 98 Agreement on information relating to the use of agency staff 104		07
Agreement on regional trade union representatives 87 FOREIGN WORKERS 88 Agreement on the code for agreements with foreign workers 88 TRAINING ETC 88 Agreement on the skills development fund 93 Agreement on bandling failure to report to/ 93 pay into the Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL skills development fund 93 Agreement on joint training and cooperation activities 95 Agreement on raining committees etc. 96 (self-administration of skills development funds) 96 Agreement on welfare 98 Agreement on information relating to the use of agency staff 104 Agreement on agency staff 104		
FOREIGN WORKERS 88 Agreement on the code for agreements with foreign workers 88 TRAINING ETC. 88 Agreement on the skills development fund. 88 Agreement on derogations from the Agreement on the skills development fund 93 Agreement on handling failure to report to/ 93 pay into the Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL skills development fund 93 Agreement on joint training and cooperation activities 95 Agreement on training committees etc. 96 (self-administration of skills development funds) 96 Agreement on agreed qualification improvement 97 WELFARE 98 AGENCY STAFF 104 Agreement on information relating to the use of agency staff 104		
Agreement on the code for agreements with foreign workers	Agreement on regional trade union representatives	87
TRAINING ETC. 88 Agreement on the skills development fund. 88 Agreement on derogations from the Agreement on the skills development fund 93 Agreement on handling failure to report to/ 93 pay into the Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL skills development fund 93 Agreement on joint training and cooperation activities 95 Agreement on training committees etc. 96 (self-administration of skills development funds) 96 Agreement on agreed qualification improvement 97 WELFARE 98 Agreement on welfare 98 Agreement on information relating to the use of agency staff 104 Agreement on agency staff 104	FOREIGN WORKERS	88
TRAINING ETC. 88 Agreement on the skills development fund. 88 Agreement on derogations from the Agreement on the skills development fund 93 Agreement on handling failure to report to/ 93 pay into the Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL skills development fund 93 Agreement on joint training and cooperation activities 95 Agreement on training committees etc. 96 (self-administration of skills development funds) 96 Agreement on agreed qualification improvement 97 WELFARE 98 Agreement on welfare 98 Agreement on information relating to the use of agency staff 104 Agreement on agency staff 104	Agreement on the code for agreements with foreign workers	88
Agreement on the skills development fund.88Agreement on derogations from the Agreement on the skills development fund93Agreement on handling failure to report to/93pay into the Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL skills development fund93Agreement on joint training and cooperation activities95Agreement on training committees etc.96(self-administration of skills development funds)96Agreement on agreed qualification improvement97WELFARE98Agreement on welfare98AGENCY STAFF104Agreement on agency staff104Agreement on agency staff104		
Agreement on derogations from the Agreement on the skills development fund93Agreement on handling failure to report to/93pay into the Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL skills development fund93Agreement on joint training and cooperation activities95Agreement on training committees etc.96(self-administration of skills development funds)96Agreement on agreed qualification improvement97WELFARE98Agreement on welfare98AGENCY STAFF104Agreement on agency staff104Agreement on agency staff104	TRAINING ETC	88
Agreement on handling failure to report to/ 93 pay into the Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL skills development fund 93 Agreement on joint training and cooperation activities 95 Agreement on training committees etc. 96 (self-administration of skills development funds) 96 Agreement on agreed qualification improvement 97 WELFARE 98 Agreement on welfare 98 Agreement on information relating to the use of agency staff 104 Agreement on agency staff 104	Agreement on the skills development fund	88
pay into the Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL skills development fund 93 Agreement on joint training and cooperation activities 95 Agreement on training committees etc. 96 (self-administration of skills development funds) 96 Agreement on agreed qualification improvement 97 WELFARE 98 Agreement on welfare 98 Agreement on information relating to the use of agency staff 104 Agreement on agency staff 104	Agreement on derogations from the Agreement on the skills development	fund 93
Agreement on joint training and cooperation activities	Agreement on handling failure to report to/	
Agreement on training committees etc. (self-administration of skills development funds) Agreement on agreed qualification improvement 97 WELFARE 98 Agreement on welfare 98 Agreement on information relating to the use of agency staff 104 Agreement on agency staff	pay into the Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL skills develop	nent fund 93
(self-administration of skills development funds)	Agreement on joint training and cooperation activities	95
Agreement on agreed qualification improvement	Agreement on training committees etc.	
WELFARE 98 Agreement on welfare 98 AGENCY STAFF 104 Agreement on information relating to the use of agency staff 104 Agreement on agency staff 104 Agreement on agency staff 104	(self-administration of skills development funds)	96
Agreement on welfare	Agreement on agreed qualification improvement	97
Agreement on welfare		00
AGENCY STAFF		
Agreement on information relating to the use of agency staff	Agreement on welfare	98
Agreement on agency staff	AGENCY STAFF 1	04
Agreement on agency staff	Agreement on information relating to the use of agency staff 1	04
Index 109		
Index 109		
	Index1	09

SECTION 1. WORKING HOURS

1. Planning working hours etc.

A. NUMBER OF HOURS PER WEEK

1.1. Number of hours per week for full-time employees

The normal effective working time is 37 hours per week, corresponding to 160.33 hours per month. The working hours can be planned as 37 hours in each individual week or as an average over 16 weeks in a fixed schedule – 592 hours in all.

Working hours in excess of an average of 37 hours over a 16-week period will be paid as overtime in accordance with section 1(6).

1.2. Number of hours per week for part-time employees

The normal working hours (duration and timing) are agreed in each individual case for part-time employees when they are first employed. The working hours can be planned as an average over 16 weeks in a fixed schedule.

In exceptional cases, it may however be agreed that part-time employees will take on extra work and overtime.

1.3. Pilot scheme for working hours schedule period

A pilot scheme for a working hours schedule period of up to 26 weeks may be established during the collective agreement period. See the pilot scheme on page 56.

B. WORKING TIME SCHEDULES

A written working time schedule is drawn up for every single employee indicating the duration and timing of the working hours.

If a working time schedule does not exist, working hours in excess of 37 hours per week will be paid as overtime in accordance with section 1(6).

The working time schedule is planned so that actual working hours in an individual week do not exceed 45 hours. If, in exceptional cases, more than 45 working hours are allocated for the individual week in the working time schedule, such working hours shall be paid in accordance with the rules on overtime work in section 1(6). These rules do not prevent additional overtime from being worked.

The average weekly working hours calculated over a 16-week period may not exceed 48 hours including overtime, cf. the EU Working Time Directive.

C. RULES FOR TIMING OF WORK

The planning of working hours shall take into consideration the needs of the employee and the company, and the working hours shall be allocated across five of the days of the week wherever possible.

The working hours are to be planned in such a way that on no more than two days per week is work performed after 17:45 and on no more than every other Saturday after 14:15. These rules may be waived if there is a separate agreement in place to this effect between the employee and the company.

For those employed in shops which open on Sundays, the working hours shall as a general rule be planned so that the employee has eight weekends off, from the end of work on a Friday to the start of work on a Monday, over a 16-week period.

Every endeavour should be made to allocate these weekends off in such a way that a maximum of two consecutive Sundays are worked. It is agreed that time off at weekends shall be distributed appropriately over the schedule period in such a way that two consecutive weekends worked, where possible given the company's operational needs, shall be followed by two consecutive weekends off.

Where it can be reasonably justified by the company's circumstances, the working hours may be planned in such a way that rather than the aforementioned time off at weekends,

• time off at another time in the schedule period may be granted with 20 minutes for every hour's effective working time performed on Sundays; or

a special supplement may be paid equivalent to 1/3 of the employee's personal hourly rate for every hour's effective working time.

Compensatory leave or payment is only granted for work where the number of working Sundays exceeds eight calculated over a 16-week period.

For those employed in shops which are not open on Sundays, the working hours shall as a general rule be planned so that the employee has eight weekends off, from the end of work on a Friday to the start of work on a Monday, over a 16-week period, cf. also paragraph 3 of point c. This general rule may be waived if there is a separate agreement in place to this effect between the employee and the company. The provisions in sentences 1 and 2 of this paragraph shall also apply to employees who are employed in shops which open on Sundays, but where the

employee does not work on Sundays.

D. SPECIAL RULES - WORKING HOURS

The rules for the timing of work, cf. point c, do not apply to the week before Christmas, Easter Saturday and Whit Saturday or to 14-day sales.

Nor do the rules for the timing of the work, cf. point c, apply in the following situations:

Sales of cars Sales from shops on campsites Sales of pleasure boats, camper vans, tents and rental equipment Sales of plants, flowers, wreaths and gardening supplies Sales of domestic pets Sales of domestic pets Sales from amusement parks Sales from shops associated with exhibitions Sales from shops associated with exhibitions Sales from shops in station buildings Sales from shops in station buildings Sales from shops in airports and public transport centres Sales from shops in harbour areas Sales from bakeries open on Sundays Sales from shops on ships which sail international waters Sales from general stores, cf. the Danish Shops Act of 1994

E. BREAKS

The employee is entitled to a break of at least 30 minutes when their working hours exceed five hours. The total break time per day may not exceed one hour, or 1.5 hours on days where the working hours excluding breaks exceed 7.5 hours.

On Saturdays with a closing time of 14:00, and other days of similar length, it may be agreed locally that breaks will not be taken.

F. CHANGES TO THE WORKING TIME SCHEDULE

The working time schedule can be changed at any time with four weeks' notice, but in such a way that the employee always knows their working time schedule at least 16 weeks in advance.

In cases where, due to significant changes, the employee cannot accept the notified change to their working hours, please refer to the provisions of the Danish Salaried Employees Act.

For non-salaried employees, notice of changes that are significant to the individual employee will be given in accordance with section 11(2).

Where the employee and the company agree, rules on the notice required for working hours may be deviated from.

2. Weekday holidays

In weeks with weekday holidays, the working hours for the individual employee will be reduced by a number of hours for each weekday holiday (New Year's Day, Maundy Thursday, Good Friday, Easter Sunday, Easter Monday, the fourth Friday after Easter, Ascension Day, Whit Sunday, Whit Monday, Christmas Day and Boxing Day) and also for Constitution Day and Christmas Eve.

This reduction is proportionate to the employee's average weekly working hours, so that the working hours of employees with average weekly working hours of:

over 10 hours are reduced by 3.5 hours over 20 hours are reduced by 4.5 hours over 25 hours are reduced by 5.5 hours over 30 hours are reduced by 7.0 hours 37 hours are reduced by 7.5 hours

per weekday holiday, Constitution Day or Christmas Eve in the week or schedule period concerned.

If the shop closes earlier than normal on New Year's Eve, the working hours for the individual employee shall be reduced by the number of hours earlier than normal that the shop is closing on this weekday.

Please refer to the Agreement on weekday holiday rules for flexjob employees, cf. page 55, for information relevant to the reduction of working hours for flexjob employees.

3. Illness and holiday

Time off that is not taken due to illness or holiday does not give entitlement to time off at another time.

4. Working hours, temporary employees and agency staff

For temporary employees and agency staff hired for a period of no more than a month, cf. section 2(4) of the Danish Salaried Employees Act, the following applies:

Unless otherwise agreed in advance, payment will be rendered for at least four hours of work per day.

Weekday holidays shall be paid in cases where these fall within the fixed dates of employment that have been agreed.

5. Shift allowance

For work within the normal effective weekly working time of 37 hours, the following supplements shall be paid per hour:

	1 March 2017	1 March 2018	1 March 2019
Weekdays 18:00 to 23:00	DKK 25.60	DKK 26.00	DKK 26.45
Weekdays 23:00 to 06:00	DKK 34.20	DKK 34.95	DKK 35.50
Saturdays 15:00 to 24:00	DKK 45.10	DKK 45.85	DKK 46.55
Sundays and weekday holidays, all day	DKK 50.60	DKK 51.00	DKK 51.80

The supplement is not paid for overtime and days off, and quarter hours are used in the calculation of the supplement.

For young people under the age of 18 and trainees, the supplement is half the aforementioned rates.

For young people under 25 who are employed for a maximum of 15 hours a week and enrolled on a full-time, state-recognised education programme, the supplements are also half the aforementioned rates, provided that there is not an increasing trend towards the employment of this group at the individual company compared to existing employment patterns in the company. Should the individual's employment exceed 15 hours a week, full rates will be paid for all hours.

However, adult trainees who start their training after reaching the age of 25 shall be paid a full shift allowance.

Supplements are not paid, however, for flexitime schemes where the flexitime window is fixed so that it extends beyond 06:00 to 17:45, or to people who have been hired specifically to work at certain times outside the usual working hours of the company.

6. Overtime work

The parties have agreed that overtime shall be restricted as much as possible with due consideration for the needs of the company.

Overtime is only paid when the work is done on the orders of the company or its representative at the workplace. Where possible, notice of overtime work shall be given no later than the preceding day. For overtime work of which notice was given, but no part was actually done, and where notice of this change was given less than four hours before the overtime work was due to have started, 1 hourly rate + 50 per cent will be paid.

A. PAYMENT - OVERTIME WORK

The rate for overtime work for which supplements can be claimed, cf. section 1(1), is calculated at the hourly rate + 50 per cent for the first three overtime hours and then at the hourly rate + 100 per cent for all overtime worked on Sundays and weekday holidays.

If the employee is called in to work overtime without prior notice after leaving work at the end of normal working hours, the overtime supplement shall be 100 per cent.

The hourly rate shall be calculated as the relevant employee's total monthly wage divided by 160.33.

When overtime work is performed, the payment is calculated from the time at which the overtime work began, cf. paragraph 1. Overtime work done between 00:00 and 06:00 is paid at the hourly rate + 100 per cent.

The calculation is based on half hours.

B. TIME OFF IN LIEU

If the employee so wishes, and the company agrees, overtime can be exchanged for time off in lieu, so that 50 per cent hours are taken as 1.5 hours off and 100 per cent hours as two hours off for every hour of overtime worked.

The timing of the time off in lieu shall be agreed between the company and the individual employee, normally with one week's notice. The

time off in lieu shall where possible be granted as full or half days off and taken within two months of working the overtime.

If the employee calls in sick to the company before the start of normal working hours on the day on which they were due to be taking agreed time off in lieu, the illness shall be considered an impediment to taking the time off in lieu. If the employee has planned several days of time off in lieu, the time off in lieu impediment will also apply to illness on any subsequent day off in lieu.

7. Flexible working hours

The provisions in this section do not prevent flexitime schemes from being agreed.

SECTION 2. PAY

1. Personal pay

A.

Pay for the individual employee shall be agreed directly between the company and the employee in each individual case. The pay shall be reviewed and adjusted where necessary at least once a year on an individual basis.

B.

The company should determine the personal pay on the basis of a systematic assessment.

C.

The pay should reflect the individual's performance, qualifications, ability, flexibility, the nature and responsibilities of the post, and any training received.

D.

If the company and the employee(s) have agreed to this in the individual case, negotiations may take place with the assistance of the trade union representative.

E.

Where disparities are considered to be present in this area as a whole, the parties have a right to institute proceedings against each other according to the rules for handling disputes, cf. section 9.

F.

Where the personal pay determined for the individual employee is in obvious conflict with the condition set out in point c, either party may request negotiations.

G.

Personal pay shall be negotiated and determined based on the principles laid down in the Danish Equal Pay Act.

H.

Where appropriate, pay for the individual employee may be determined wholly or partly as performance-related pay, bonuses, commission, etc., cf. subsection 13.

2. Pay, skilled workers

Employees with vocational training within the retail sector are paid as follows:

	1 March 2017	1 March 2018	1 March 2019
	DKK/month	DKK/month	DKK/month
Minimum wage	19,845.00	20,166.00	20,487.00

3. Pay, shop assistants

Shop assistants are paid in accordance with the general pay provision for unskilled workers in the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement, although a special shop assistant supplement of DKK 750.00 per month is paid with effect from the first of the month in which the training ends.

Please also refer to the Agreement on the pay of trainee shop assistants and shop assistants, cf. page 65.

4. Pay, unskilled workers

Unskilled workers are paid as follows:

1 March 2017	1 March 2018	1 March 2019
DKK/month	DKK/month	DKK/month

Minimum wage	18,345.00	18,666.00	18,987.00

5. Length of service supplement

Employees with vocational training within the retail sector and a year's service with the company receive a supplement of DKK 2.90 per hour.

Shop assistants with a year's service with the company receive a supplement of DKK 2.90 per hour.

Unskilled workers with a year's service with the company receive a supplement of DKK 2.90 per hour.

6. Pay, part-time

A.

Part-time employees are graded according to the same rules as full-time employees, and their pay is calculated using the ratio between the individual's weekly working hours and the applicable normal weekly working hours of the company or department.

B.

When a full-time employee continues to work at the company as a part-time employee, their pay is calculated as indicated above, but in relation to the individual's previous pay.

C.

Weekday holidays shall be paid in cases where these fall within the dates of employment that have been agreed.

D.

If the part-time employee works outside of their normal working hours, such extra hours will be paid at the normal hourly rate for the employee concerned. Where the part-time employee is covered by a 16-week schedule, overtime shall be paid if the part-time employee works extra hours in the individual week which mean that the average of 37 hours is exceeded.

7. Pay, temporary employees and agency staff

Temporary employees and agency staff hired for a period of no more than a month, cf. section 2(4) of the Danish Salaried Employees Act, are paid in accordance with subsections (1), (2), (3) and (4). Payment is rendered for at least four hours of work per day, unless otherwise agreed in advance.

Weekday holidays shall be paid in cases where these fall within the fixed dates of employment that have been agreed.

8. Pay, young people under 18

A.

All young people under the age of 18 are paid as follows:

	1 March 2017 DKK/month	1 March 2018 DKK/month	1 March 2019 DKK/month
Minimum wage	10,423.00	10,607.00	10,791.00

B.

Pay for part-time and temporary employees under the age of 18 is calculated pro rata.

The hourly rate is determined by dividing the monthly wage by 160.33.

C.

From the first day of the month in which the employee reaches the age of 18, payment shall be rendered according to the rules in section 2(4).

D.

This provision applies, among other things, to all auxiliary jobs in the shop area and associated warehouse jobs etc.

9. Pay, trainees

A.1. MINIMUM WAGE

The following applies for trainees who have completed the two-year foundation course (HG) or equivalent in accordance with the Danish Act on Vocational Training applicable before 1 August 2015, and who completed the course pursuant to these rules:

	1 March 2017 DKK/month	1 March 2018 DKK/month	1 March 2019 DKK/month
1st year	10,720.00	10,902.00	11,088.00

2nd year	11,963.00	12,166.00	12,373.00
3rd year	13,161.00	13,385.00	13,612.00
4th year	14,257.00	14,500.00	14,746.00

Trainees who have passed the higher commercial examination programme (HHX), the higher technical examination programme (HTX) or been awarded an upper secondary school leaving certificate before the start of the training programme shall be paid a supplement to the aforementioned pay of DKK 850.00 per month.

If a training agreement is set to be completed in less than four years, the number of pay rates will be reduced accordingly so that the latter rates are applicable.

If a training agreement is entered into for e.g. two years and six months, the first six months will be paid at the second rate and the remaining years at the third and fourth rate respectively.

Should the training period be extended because the theoretical training cannot be completed within the agreed training period, without the trainee being at fault, the minimum wage for a skilled worker in this sector will be paid for the extended period, cf. subsection 2.

A.2.

The following applies for trainees who have completed the foundation course in accordance with the Danish Act on Vocational Training applicable from 1 August 2015:

	1 March 2017 DKK/month	1 March 2018 DKK/month	1 March 2019 DKK/month
1st year	11,342.00	11,534.00	11,730.00
2nd year	12,562.00	12,776.00	12,993.00
3rd year	13,709.00	13,942.00	14,179.00

Remuneration for trainees on basic vocational courses follows the first-year trainee rate.

Trainees who have passed the higher commercial examination programme (HHX), upper secondary school leaving certificate or the higher technical examination programme (HTX) before the start of the training programme shall be paid a supplement to the aforementioned pay of DKK 1,045.00 per month.

If a training agreement is set to be completed in less than four years, the number of pay rates shall be reduced accordingly so that the latter rates are applicable.

If a training agreement is entered into for e.g. one year and six months, the first six months will be paid at the second rate and then at the third rate.

Should the training period be extended because the theoretical training cannot be completed within the agreed training period, without the trainee being at fault, the minimum wage for a skilled worker in this sector will be paid for the extended period, cf. subsection 2.

For transitional rules in connection with entering into the agreement on 1 March 2016, see "Agreement on transitional rules for new wage determination for trainees" on page 57.

B. TRAINEES, OVER 21 YEARS

If a trainee starts the practical training after reaching the age of 21, pay will be agreed in each individual case on the basis of the individual's previous employment and training. If the company or trainee so wish, the pay can be agreed with the assistance of the parties.

C. TRAINEES AGED 25 OR OVER

Trainees who have reached the age of 25 at the start of the training will be paid according to the rates for unskilled workers, cf. subsection 4.

10. Pay, trainee shop assistants

Trainees are paid according to the first and second-year trainee rates in the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement.

Trainees without any previous training are paid in their first year according to the first-year rate stated in section 2(9), point a of the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement and in their second year according to the second-year rate stated in section 2(9), point a of the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement.

Trainees with some previous training are paid in accordance with the second-year rate stated in section 2(9) of the Shop Workers' Collective

Agreement.

Trainees who have passed the higher commercial examination programme (HHX), the higher technical examination programme (HTX) or been awarded an upper secondary school leaving certificate before the start of the training programme shall be paid a supplement of DKK 850.00 per month.

Please also refer to the Agreement on the pay of trainee shop assistants and shop assistants, cf. page 65.

11. Pay, students on short-cycle higher education programmes

Students on short-cycle higher education programmes are paid as follows during the placement period:

1 March 2017	1 March 2018	1 March 2019
DKK/month	DKK/month	DKK/month
14,781.00	15,032.00	15,288.00

Payment is rendered for the part of the training constituting the placement period. This is paid monthly. However, the company and the student may agree that the total pay for the placement period at the company, including rises enforced under the collective agreement, be distributed equally across the entire training period (placement and theory) and the same amount paid out each month regardless of any time spent at college.

12. Flexible Wage Account

To address individual wishes for a choice between time off, pension or pay, the individual employee shall be given their own flexible wage account.

DEPOSITS

2.7 per cent of the holiday entitlement pay shall be deposited in the flexible wage account. As of 1 March 2018, 3.4 per cent of the holiday entitlement pay shall be deposited in the flexible wage account. As of 1 March 2019, 4.0 per cent of the holiday entitlement pay shall be deposited in the flexible wage account.

EXTRA HOLIDAY DAYS AND TRAINEES: PENSION

Each year in March, if the employee has accrued extra holiday entitlement at that time, the employee may choose by means of written notification to the company whether to convert one or more of the extra holiday days in the next holiday year to a deposit in the flexible wage account rather than taking them as holiday. An extra holiday day can be converted into 0.5 per cent of the holiday entitlement pay.

All savings deposits placed in the flexible wage account include holiday pay as well as holiday allowance for the deposit.

Employees who are entitled to an occupational pension under the rules of the collective agreement when making their decision can inform the company each year in March that all or part of the savings deposit to the flexible wage account is to be paid into the pension scheme in the next holiday year. The company may set minimum limits for the deposit of monthly pension contributions of DKK 75. If the amount per month is less than this minimum contribution, the company may decide to combine the contributions for two months.

The deposit of extra pension contributions does not trigger an employer's contribution for the deposit.

REDEMPTIONS

Employees can opt to redeem an amount from their flexible wage account via their wage payment by way of time off, e.g., holiday, extra holiday days, time off for dependants or days off under the collective agreement, but no more than twice a year.

The employee shall notify the company when a redemption transaction is to be made from the account. Notice shall be given no later than the 10th of the month in which the redemption is to take place. It is the employee who decides the size of the redemption, but amounts larger than the current balance cannot be paid out.

For employees that take days off for senior employees in accordance with the rules on this, cf. Agreement on retirement scheme, the balance of the flexible wage account will be reduced by the wages paid out plus any holiday allowance/holiday pay.

SURPLUS SAVING WITH THE FLEXIBLE WAGE ACCOUNT

If there is a surplus in the flexible wage account at the end of the holiday year, the amount is carried over to the next holiday year for redemption then.

If the employee leaves, the flexible wage account will be closed and any surplus paid together with the last wage payment from the company.

LOCAL AGREEMENTS

With the assistance of the trade union representative, the company may enter into agreements on redemption, including an agreement that amounts can be redeemed without the employee taking time off. Local agreements cannot, however, be entered into for the balance in the flexible

wage account to be redeemed regularly with the other pay.

13. Pay systems (bonus, commission, performance-related pay, etc.)

A.

With a view to strengthening the individual company's competitiveness and development, the parties agree to recommend that local agreements be put in place to carry out trials of or to introduce types of pay that improve competition so that both the company and the employees benefit.

B.

Such types or systems of pay may be based on e.g. performance appraisals in accordance with bonus, commission or extra performance principles, position and/or personal assessment, and/or qualification factors such as training, responsibility, length of service, vocational studies and flexibility.

C.

If the company or relevant group of employees wishes to introduce such pay systems, local negotiations on this matter will take place. If the company or employees so wish, the necessary assistance may be obtained from the parties.

D.

The parties have agreed that it is appropriate to recommend that trials of new pay systems be initiated according to the guidelines set out below:

When making a decision on the development and introduction of a pay system, a pay system committee should be appointed. Where there are trade union representatives, it is standard practice for them to be involved. The committee shall organise its own way of working. Where it may be relevant for the committee's work, the necessary training can be organised.

It is recommended that a pay system be based on transparent and open principles. A pay system shall be fit for purpose, simple to introduce and easy to administer and adapt to changed circumstances, including rules for termination. Job assessment, personal qualifications, training, performance-related pay, bonus, etc. may be included as elements in the pay system.

14. Deferred payment of wages

It should be possible to defer payment for overtime work and extra work, payment of shift allowance and payment of any other variable wage components from a given date in a month to the same date in the next month, but no earlier than from the 15th day of a month for payment at the end of the next month.

With regard to part-time employees hired to work no more than 15 hours a week on average, including employees with variable working hours, it should also be possible to defer payment of the employee's wages as set out above.

15. Wage calculation for incomplete months

A.

When the pay for individual days is calculated for someone who joined or left the company part of the way through a month, this is calculated as the full-time monthly pay divided by 160.33 and then multiplied by the effective working hours when the person concerned is due to be working. The aforementioned payment is also made for weekday holidays where these fall on the employee's normal working days.

B.

The same applies to absence due to holiday for which pay/holiday pay has not been accrued, and also for unpaid days off.

16. Subscription deduction

According to the local agreement, the company can deduct subscription fees for HK from the pay of unionised employees and forward these to HK.

SECTION 3. MIDDLE MANAGERS

1.

This provision covers middle managers who have special responsibility in the shop without being covered by section 12(2), point c, paragraph 2 of the collective agreement.

2.

Middle managers are dealt with in accordance with sections 1, 3 and 4 of the Salaried Employees' Collective Agreement for Trade, Knowledge and Service between Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL and HK/Privat. These provisions can be found in the Agreement on the understanding of the Agreement on middle managers, page 67.

3.

Middle managers can be hired in accordance with the rules set out below:

In shops with at least four employees covered by the collective agreement, one of these can be appointed as a middle manager. In addition to this,

a further middle manager may be appointed in shops with at least 12 employees.

Another middle manager may subsequently be appointed for each additional nine employees in the shop. However, it is always possible to appoint a middle manager where there is neither a shop manager outside the collective agreement nor an owner who works in the shop to any significant extent.

The number of employees is calculated to be equivalent to the number of full-time employees in the shop according to the basic calculation data for ATP pension contributions valid as of 1 March 2004:

· Employees working at least 117 hours per month are included in full

Employees working less than 117 hours - but at least 78 - per month are included using a factor of 2/3

Employees working less than 78 hours – but at least 39 – per month are included using a factor of 1/3

• Employees working less than 39 hours per month are not included

4.

Where there are special circumstances, middle managers can be appointed to a greater extent than that stated in subsection 3. This is subject to agreement with HK HANDEL.

5.

An agreement on appointment as a middle manager is entered into between the middle manager and the company.

6.

Existing employees whose employment conditions change under this provision retain the llength of service that they have accrued at the shop. The same applies where an employee who was employed as a middle manager switches to general conditions.

Employees already in place on 1 March 2004 cannot be ordered to take on the role of middle manager without an agreement to this effect.

7.

The parties recommend that middle managers participate in relevant continuing vocational training, e.g. basic or advanced management training.

SECTION 4. PENSION

1. Pension rates

A contribution of 11.5 per cent of the pay-as-you-earn wages will be collected, cf. subsection 2. Of this figure, the company's contribution is 7.7 per cent and the employee's contribution is 3.8 per cent.

2. Basis for calculation

The following elements are included in the basis for calculating pension contributions:

Pay from employer during adult education • Holiday pay for monthly-paid workers and those similar to salaried workers • Holiday pay for hourly-paid workers • Shift allowance • Flexible wage account • Bonuses (although not birthday or anniversary bonuses etc.) • Pay during • Monthly pay (including personal supplements) • Profit sharing, paid in cash Extra work and overtime work

Performance-related pay, commission and bonus

Sick pay paid by the employer

Sickness holiday pay

Hourly pay

Holiday allowance

It is agreed that as of 1 March 2012, pay-as-you-earn wages shall be considered the same as those earned by salaried workers in the industry.

3. Conditions of entitlement to a pension

All employees shall have a pension scheme in place once the following conditions have been met:

The scheme covers employees who have reached the age of 20, but not trainees.

The employee must have been employed continuously for three months at one or more companies covered by the collective agreement. This length of service requirement is set aside in cases where the employee was already covered by an occupational pension scheme based on a collective agreement when they were hired.

For employees who fulfil the aforementioned conditions, it is also the case that other conditions agreed between the parties to achieve risk coverage and receive insurance benefits must be met.

For employees who have reached retirement age and where it is not possible to pay premiums for risk insurance, the full pension contribution goes to the old age pension.

For employees who receive old age pension benefits but are still active on the labour market and fulfil the conditions for entitlement to the pension scheme, the company's pension contributions go to an annuity/early retirement pension without insurance elements. The company and the employee may enter into an agreement on the company's contribution being paid as an allowance that does not give entitlement to holiday and which is paid out annually together with the holiday allowance stipulated in the Danish Holiday Act, cf. section 23(2) of the Act. When the employee leaves, this will be paid together with the final wage payment.

Employees who have reached the age of 60 and are not already covered by a pension scheme will not be enrolled in an occupational pension scheme. The company's pension contribution shall be paid to these employees together with their holiday allowance, cf. section 23(2) of the Danish Holiday Act.

4. Change of pension provider

Unless otherwise stated in this agreement, the pension scheme shall be set up with:

Pension for salaried employees - PFA Pension Sundkrogsgade 4 DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø Tel.: +45 3917 5000

Companies covered by the collective agreement that wish to change their pension provider are permitted to do so. However, this does not apply to companies which have previously had pension agreements with FunktionærPension, or which are otherwise covered by the FunktionærPension portfolio in Pension for salaried employees - PFA Pension. Ultimately, companies which have already entered into a pension scheme before entering into the collective agreement, and which will therefore be covered by the Pension for salaried employees on entering into the collective agreement, cannot change pension provider unless the parties come to an agreement on this.

The following conditions shall be met when there is a change of pension provider:

A ballot on the change of pension provider shall be held among the employees at the company who are entitled to a pension. The company will inform the employees of the details and consequences of any change. If a majority of the votes cast are in favour of a change in provider, then this can take place.

•

The conditions set out in the collective agreement for a change of provider must be met.

The transfer of the employees' deposits in conjunction with a change must take place at no cost to the employees. No deductions may therefore be made from the deposits by either the ceding company or the receiving company.

Please refer to the guidance on change of pension provider, page 79.

Please also refer to the Agreement on pension schemes, page 74, and the flexible wage account, cf. section 2(12).

5. Insurance – trainees

Trainees who are not already covered by an employer contribution pension or insurance scheme are entitled to the following insurance benefits:

- a. Disability pension
- b. Disability lump sum
- c. Critical illness insurance
- d. Death lump sum

The scheme is placed with a pension or insurance company of the company's choice, just as Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver is entitled to set up something akin to a group life insurance scheme.

The costs of the scheme are covered by the company.

If the employee transfers to another employer's contribution pension scheme, the company's obligation under this provision comes to an end. The insurance sums come to the following amounts:

- Disability pension of DKK 60,000 per annum
- Disability lump sum of DKK 100,000
- Critical illness insurance cover of DKK 100,000
- Death lump sum of DKK 300,000

SECTION 5. ABSENCE

1. Holiday

A. The Danish Holiday Act applies.

B.

Where there is no complete shutdown for the holidays, the company shall find out no later than 1 April which dates the individual employee wishes to take as their main holiday, e.g. by handing out holiday lists.

C.

Please refer the Agreement on holidays for information on the possibility of transferring holiday from one holiday year to another, page 52.

D.

The company may use the holiday card approved by the parties instead of the holiday account system. Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver guarantees that the money will be in place.

Please also refer to the Agreement on holidays, page 57.

2. Extra holiday days

A.

Employees who have been continuously employed by the company for nine months are entitled to five extra holiday days.

B.

The extra holiday days are converted to and taken as hours within the holiday year.

C.

The extra holiday days are paid in the same way as absence due to illness.

D.

The extra holiday days are allocated in accordance with the same rules as outstanding holiday, cf. the Danish Holiday Act. However, notice to take extra holiday days during a notice period cannot be given following the company's dismissal of the employee.

E.

If the extra holiday days are not taken before the end of the holiday year, the employee may, within three weeks of the end of the holiday year, claim for compensation equivalent to sick pay for every extra holiday day not taken. The compensation will be paid together with the wages for June at the latest.

F.

No holiday pay and holiday allowance, or compensation for these, will be paid for extra holiday day wages.

G.

Regardless of any job change, no more than five extra holiday days can be taken in each holiday year.

H.

When someone leaves, the company shall provide a written record of how many extra holiday days/extra holiday hours the employee is due. The employee who has left may claim compensation for extra holiday days not taken in the period from 1 May to 30 September.

Please also refer to the flexible wage account, cf. section 2(12).

3. Illness

A.

The company shall be informed of illness as soon as possible.

B.

The company may request documentation of illness in the form of either a doctor's note or a solemn declaration. The company will pay for the doctor's note in accordance with the applicable rules.

C.

However, a doctor's note may only be issued for illness lasting more than three days. A doctor's note may also be requested for frequent absences lasting one or two days.

4. Childbirth (pregnancy, adoption and leave)

A.

Please refer to the applicable legislation.

B.

The company will pay maternity pay from four weeks before the expected date of delivery (pregnancy leave) until 14 weeks after the birth (maternity leave) to employees who on their expected date of delivery have completed nine months' service. An employee who gives birth at a later date than expected by the doctor/midwife is thus only entitled to pay during pregnancy leave for up to four weeks.

Adoptive parents who have completed nine months' service when they take custody of the child shall be paid wages for 14 weeks from the day on which the child enters their custody (parental leave).

The pay corresponds to the wages that the individual would have received during this period. The amount includes the maximum rate of state benefit laid down in legislation.

Under the same conditions, benefits are paid during paternity leave for up to two weeks.

C.

The company pays for parental leave of up to 13 weeks.

Of these 13 weeks, each of the parents is entitled to take five weeks.

If the leave of absence reserved for the individual parent is not taken, the payment will not be made.

The payment for the remaining three weeks is made to the nominated parent.

The payment in these 13 weeks corresponds to the wages that the individual would have received during this period, although no more than DKK 140.00 per hour. As of 1 July 2017, the company offers full pay for these 13 weeks. The changes will affect employees with children for whom parental leave will begin on 1 July 2017 or later.

The 13 weeks must be taken within 52 weeks of the birth.

Unless otherwise agreed, the employee shall give three weeks' notice out of consideration for the payroll department when they wish to take their

paid leave. There is thus no change to the notice rules set out in section 15 of the Danish Parental Leave Act.

The leave of each of the parents can be divided into a maximum of two periods, unless otherwise agreed.

It is a prerequisite for the payment that the employer be entitled to reimbursement corresponding to the maximum rate of state benefit. If the reimbursement has to be less, the payment to the employee will be reduced accordingly.

D.

Note that if the rate of state benefit is reduced, the wages paid must be adjusted accordingly.

Leave periods:	Pay commitment:
Pregnancy leave	4 weeks with full pay
Maternity leave	14 weeks with full pay
Paternity leave	2 weeks with full pay
Parental leave no later than week	13 weeks with full pay, but no more than
52	DKK 140.00 per hour. Of these 13 weeks,
	each of the parents is entitled to payment
	for five weeks.
	If the leave of absence reserved for
	the individual parent is not taken, the
	payment is not made. The payment for the
	remaining
	three weeks is made to the nominated
	parent.

For parental leave beginning on 1 July 2017 or later, the following applies:

Leave periods:	Pay commitment:
Pregnancy leave	4 weeks with full pay
Maternity leave	14 weeks with full pay
Paternity leave	2 weeks with full pay
Parental leave no later than week	13 weeks with full pay Of these 13 weeks,
52	each of the parents is entitled to payment
	for five weeks.
	If the leave of absence reserved for
	the individual parent is not taken, the
	payment is not made. The payment for the
	remaining
	three weeks is made to the nominated
	parent.

E.

During the 14 weeks of maternity leave, an extra pension contribution will be paid for employees with nine months' service on the expected date of delivery.

The pension contribution consists of:

	Employer's contribution	Employee's contribution	Total contribution
	DKK/month	DKK/month	DKK/month
From 1 July 2014	1,360.00	680.00	2,040.00

A pro rata contribution will be paid for part-time employees.

5. Children's illness

A.

Employees with at least six months' service with the company are entitled to time off with pay when the time off is necessary to take care of the employee's sick child at home or children under the age of 14.

B.

Time off is only given to one of the child's parents, only until another childcare solution can be arranged, and can extend no longer than the child's first day of illness. The company may request documentation, e.g. in the form of a solemn declaration.

C.

As of 1 May 2017, point b will be replaced by: Time off is only given to one of the child's parents, and only until another childcare solution can be arranged, and covers the child's first full day of illness. If the child falls ill during the course of the employee's work day, and the employee must leave work as a result of this, there is also an entitlement to time off with pay for the remaining working hours on the day in question. The company may request documentation, e.g. in the form of a solemn declaration.

6. Children's admission to hospital

A.

Time off is granted to employees who have been continuously employed at the company for nine months when it is necessary for the employee to stay in hospital together with a child under the age of 14.

B.

As of 1 May 2017, time off is granted to employees who have been continuously employed at the company for nine months when it is necessary for the employee to stay in hospital, including when the admission takes place partially or entirely at home. The rule applies to children under the age of 14.

C.

This time off applies only to one parent, and the total maximum entitlement to time off is one week per child within a 12-month period.

D.

The employee shall produce documentation of the hospital stay when requested to do so.

E.

Full pay is paid, up to max. DKK 130.00 per hour.

F.

If the employee is entitled to state benefit, the company takes over this entitlement.

7. Time off for dependants

A.

As of 1 May 2017, employees with at least nine months' service are entitled to take two days off for dependants per holiday year. The employee can take a maximum of two days off for dependants per holiday year, regardless of how many children the employee has. The rule applies to children under the age of 14.

B.

The days are taken as agreed between the company and the employee in respect of the needs of the company.

C.

Time off for dependants days are taken without pay, but the employee is entitled to an amount from their flexible wage account, cf. section 2(12), paragraph 7.

8. Time off due to force majeure

A.

Under the EU Parental Leave Directive, the employee is entitled to time off work without pay as a result of a force majeure situation in accordance with national practice when compelling family reasons arise in cases of illness or accidents that urgently require the employee's immediate presence.

B.

This provision does not affect the application of other rules on absence with pay.

SECTION 6. TRAINEES

For details of pay rates for trainees, please refer to section 2(9) and (10).

1. Trainees

A. SCOPE

This provision applies to trainees covered by the Executive Order on Retail Training Programmes and trainees enrolled in individual vocational training within the scope of the collective agreement, cf. the Danish Act on Vocational Training.

B. FORMAL REQUIREMENTS

The training agreement shall be signed by the company and the trainee. This must be submitted to the vocational college, where it should be registered before the training programme can begin.

The training agreement is only valid if the company is approved as a training centre for the relevant training area.

If the trainee is under the age of 18, the agreement must also be signed by their guardian(s).

The training agreement and associated training rules, notification forms and college enrolment form can be obtained from the local vocational college.

The length of the placement is set out in the Executive Order on Retail Training Programmes.

No later than at the end of the probationary period, the company's training manager should draw up a written training plan as agreed with the trainee in accordance with the goals of the placement.

C. PROBATIONARY PERIOD

The probationary period for trainees is three months, cf. the Danish Act on Vocational Training.

Any time spent at college is not included in the probationary period, which is extended accordingly, and the trainee should be notified in writing of the new last day of the probationary period as soon as possible.

D. ILLNESS, PREGNANCY AND CHILDBIRTH

Please refer to the applicable legislation and to section 5 of the collective agreement.

E. HOLIDAY AFTER COMPLETED TRAINING

Should the trainee remain with the company after completing the training, holiday will be paid with the relevant wage.

F. OCCUPATIONAL INJURIES

Trainees are covered by the company's occupational injury insurance throughout the training period, for both the practical and theory parts.

G. WORKING HOURS - TRAINEES

The working hours for trainees under the age of 18 are governed by the Danish Working Environment Act.

Trainees may take on any overtime work, but this may not exceed the average overtime performed by other employees doing the same job at the company.

The teaching time and associated travel time within normal working hours are not included in the working hours. Where there is participation in all-day and all-week courses, time off work shall be paid for the full day(s) or week(s) concerned.

H. TRAVEL - TRAINEES

The trainee is entitled to reimbursement for travel expenses incurred in connection with time spent at college when the total distance there and back is at least 20 km per day.

The trainee shall use public transport wherever possible. If this leads to unreasonable inconvenience for the trainee, their own means of transport can be used.

When public transport is used, the actual expenses incurred will be reimbursed. Travel shall be undertaken in the cheapest and most suitable way and where possible a season ticket, discount card, etc. must be used. If own transport is used, a mileage allowance will be paid in accordance with the rules of the Danish Ministry of Education when the total distance to and from college is 20 km or more.

Under the aforementioned rules, trainees staying in accommodation will be given travel grants for travel between their usual residence and their accommodation. This also applies to travel at weekends and during the Easter and Christmas holidays.

The company will always pay for the trainee's transport if the company, in agreement with the trainee, chooses another college than the one located closest to the workplace and the travel distance does not exceed 20 km.

Rules issued by the Employers' Training Contribution Scheme apply otherwise.

I. REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENDITURE ASSOCIATED WITH COURSES

The company will reimburse the trainee for expenditure associated with course materials up to DKK 600.00 for the entire training course and for expenditure associated with the final examination.

If a trainee travels to collegeunder the rules of the Danish Act on Vocational Training on free choice of college, the trainee's expenses for this will be paid by the company.

Where the trainee attends a residential business college, the company will pay the fees charged by the college for board and lodging according to the current rules set by the Danish Ministry of Education.

J. PLACEMENT ABROAD - TRAINEES

Trainees on placement abroad are covered by the Danish Act on Vocational Training.

The Danish company pays the difference between the placement wage abroad and the Danish trainee wage under this collective agreement.

The Danish company will pay for any relocation and travel required for placement abroad.

K. SELF-SELECTED TRAINING

After six months' employment in the same company (incl. any time spent at college), trainees are entitled to apply for a grant from the HK Handel Skills Development Fund. Grants are awarded for participation in training outside working hours to the same extent and under the same conditions as other employees covered by the collective agreement. Trainees are not considered to be under notice of termination, even if the training agreement has a fixed term.

L. TRAINING OFFICERS

During the practical training period there shall be one or more skilled workers, or people with equivalent qualifications, linked to the trainee in the capacity of training officer. This training officer will make sure that the trainee is trained in accordance with the rules for the placement and the trainee's training plan.

It is recommended that the training officer have the requisite qualifications for supervising the training of trainees. These can, if necessary, be gained by attending the coaching course or similar courses designed by the parties.

M. DISPUTES

Attempts shall be made to resolve disputes between trainees and the companies through negotiation with the assistance of the parties before any complaint is lodged with the Dispute Board.

N. LENGTH OF SERVICE

Should trainees remain at the company once training is complete, length of service will be calculated from the date on which the training started in the event of notice of termination at a later date.

O. OTHER

For all other information, please refer to the Executive Orders on Education and Training and the other provisions of the collective agreement.

For pay rates for trainees on short-cycle higher education programmes, please refer to section 2(11).

2. Students on short-cycle higher education programmes

A. SCOPE

The provisions laid down in this section apply to students covered by the Danish Executive Order on Short-Cycle Higher Education Programmes at Business Colleges.

B. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT

An employment contract will be issued for the practical training of the students. In addition to the terms and conditions of employment, this contract will describe what the practical part of the training involves.

The terms and conditions of employment are covered by general employment legislation, including the provisions of the Danish Salaried Employees Act and the Danish Holiday Act. The general provisions of the collective agreement regarding working hours, overtime and pension apply otherwise.

SECTION 7. TRAINING

1. Continuing training

A. SKILLS DEVELOPMENT

Employees are entitled to skills development adapted to the conditions of each individual company in order to increase competitiveness and development opportunities for the companies and employees.

With a view to enhancing the skills found throughout the company and also the employees' vocational, general and personal development, it is recommended that the company and the employees work systematically on both formal training and skills development at the workplace, not only through daily work, access courses and new methods of organising work, but also through continuing vocational training activities. This includes giving the employee a reasonable opportunity to update their training.

Both the company and the employee are encouraged to take joint responsibility for promoting skills development with a view to matching the company's skills requirements and the employee's potential for meeting current and future job requirements.

To the extent that the employee and the company agree on the matter, participation in long-cycle continuing vocational training programmes is recommended. In situations such as these, the parties recommend that the companies consider whether agency staff should be hired.

B. PLANNING OF SKILLS DEVELOPMENT

The parties recommend that employee development be planned in conjunction with regular staff appraisals.

It is a good idea to plan and hold staff appraisals using www.samtalens123.dk, a tool developed by the parties under the auspices of the Training and Cooperation Fund for the Retail Area.

The parties recommend that an Individual Skills Assessment (ISA) be performed at a vocational college as preparation for a staff appraisal for unskilled workers with more than four years' service in the retail trade.

It is also recommended that, when planning skills development, the starting point should be the employee's employment situation, age and length of service, and it is recommended that personal development targets be set for the individual employee.

The employee may have their participation in internal courses and other qualifying activities recorded officially.

The company's consultation committee can discuss frameworks and principles for training and development. Such frameworks and principles should also be established at companies without a consultation committee; this may take the form of e.g. appointing a training committee.

C. SECTOR OR COMPANY-RELATED CONTINUING VOCATIONAL TRAINING

If the employee attends sector and company-related continuing vocational training, the employee is entitled to one unpaid week of time off work per year, allowing for the needs of the company, once the employee has been in continuous employment at the same company for at least six months.

If the employee has been in continuous employment at the same company for two years, the company will pay course fees, transport and any lost wages to the extent that public funding does not cover the costs of relevant continuing vocational training courses recognised by the parties to the collective agreement.

The parties recommend that the employees be given adequate time off to attend such courses.

Where an employee attends recognised continuing training with of lost wages outside of normal working hours, the training time will be included as working hours provided that the training is agreed in advance with the company.

Where the employee attends continuing vocational training in their free time, the company pays for any attendance fee and course materials, provided that this is agreed in advance with the company.

If the employee attends training with flexible meeting arrangements, including e-learning agreed with the company, it is recommended that when the agreement is reached it be determined whether and to what extent preparation and attendance should take place within working hours or free time.

D. SELF-SELECTED TRAINING

After nine months of employment, the individual employee is entitled to two weeks of time off per year – allocated with consideration for the needs of the company – for continuing vocational training of relevance to employment within the scope of the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement, provided that there is a commitment for a grant for the training or for the company.

Employees whose employment is terminated due to restructuring, cut backs, company closures or other circumstances on the part of the company and who have at least six months' service with the company are entitled to an additional week off during the notice period with grants in accordance with the rules in paragraph 1. Under the same conditions, the employee is also entitled to make use of remaining time off with support from the HK Handel Skills Development Fund for up to two weeks.

The employee is entitled to save the entitlement to time off for self-selected training for up to three years. However, the accumulated weeks may not be used if the employee is under notice of termination, unless the company and the employee have agreed this or agreed otherwise. The oldest weeks must be taken first.

The opportunity to take long-cycle self-selected training courses is conditional on there being adequate resources in the skills development fund. The current rules also apply to companies that administer their own skills development fund resources, cf. section 5 in the Agreement on the Skills Development Fund, page 88. The accumulated entitlement to self-selected training cannot be carried over to another job.

The company shall pay a sum equivalent to DKK 400.00 per year per full-time employee covered by the collective agreement in accordance with the detailed guidelines in the Agreement on the Skills Development Fund. For part-time employees, this amount shall be reduced pro rata.

Employees can apply to the HK Handel Skills Development Fund for a training grant. Grants cannot be given for training if the employee receives a full or partial wage.

Companies with training committees can set up a skills development fund at the company in accordance with the detailed guidelines in the Agreement on the Skills Development Fund.

E. VOCATIONAL QUALIFICATION

To ensure that employees in the retail sector have the necessary qualifications, thereby improving the competitiveness of the retail companies, the parties to the collective agreement encourage unskilled workers and their companies to draw up a training plan which leads to skills development training for the employee.

With a view to acquiring vocational training within the retail sector, the individual employee is entitled to five weeks of time off per year, within a three-year period, to attend the qualifying courses recognised by the parties, provided that:

• The employee is aged 25 or over.

The employee has four years of professional service within the retail sector, two of which are at the present company.

The employee can gain qualifications equivalent to at least 3/4 of the practical part.

The employee has a theoretical post-qualification requirement of no more than 15 weeks, e.g. achieved via an individual skills assessment procedure.

The training will be agreed with the company (both the practical and theoretical parts and the final examination).

During the period in which the employee works towards a vocational qualification, no other time off will be permitted for continuing vocational training.

2. Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL Training and Cooperation Fund

A.

The parties have set up a Training and Cooperation Fund for the Retail Area.

The purpose of the fund is:

to promote and develop training and the training level within the retail area with a view to ensuring that the companies have a workforce with appropriate vocational qualifications;

to develop and trial training programmes which do not yet exist in the traditional education system; and

to finance remuneration for the trade union representatives.

Please also refer to the fund's statutes.

B. FINANCING

The companies shall pay a sum equivalent to DKK 638.50 per year per full-time employee covered by the collective agreement. This amount shall be adjusted on 1 January 2020 to DKK 803.50. For part-time employees, this amount shall be reduced pro rata.

The fund's board is authorised to adjust the contribution if the tasks of the fund make this necessary.

Contributions to the fund are paid to Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver, which looks after these sums.

3. DA/LO Development Fund

DKK 0.42 per working hour completed will be paid by the company to the DA/LO Development Fund. As of 1 January 2018, the amount will be raised to DKK 0.45 per working hour completed. The sum is collected in accordance with the decision of the umbrella organisations.

SECTON 8. TRADE UNION REPRESENTATIVES

1. Where can a trade union representative be elected?

A. AT LEAST SIX UNIONISED EMPLOYEES

At companies, and particularly in departments or branches in separate locations, unionised employees may elect from among themselves someone to be their trade union representative in meetings with the company or its representative.

B. UP TO FIVE UNIONISED EMPLOYEES

At companies, and particularly in departments or branches in separate locations where five or fewer unionised employees are employed within the scope of the collective agreement; however, a trade union representative can only be elected if this is agreed locally, and this agreement may only lapse if this is also agreed.

C. AT LEAST 35 UNIONISED EMPLOYEES

At companies that employ 35 or more unionised employees within the scope of the collective agreement at every single workplace, a substitute trade union representative may be elected to serve during prolonged absences of the ordinary trade union representative due to illness, holiday, training, etc.

The substitute must meet the same conditions for election as the trade union representative. During their work as acting trade union representative, the substitute trade union representative is covered by the same rules of protection as those which apply to the ordinary trade union representative.

Please also refer to the Agreement on regional trade union representatives, page 87.

2. Election as trade union representative

A.

The trade union representative and any substitute trade union representative, both of whom may be part-time employees, are elected from among the unionised, established and skilled employees who have been employed at the company in question for at least a year; where a minimum number of five such employees does not exist, this number will be supplemented with the unionised employees who have worked there the longest. A trainee or employee under the age of 18 cannot be elected as a trade union representative.

However, a trade union representative who enters into a training agreement with the company as an adult trainee after 1 May 2017 may continue to be a trade union representative. It is a prerequisite that the trade union representative, during any placement periods, works together with their electorate.

B.

At a company with branches or geographically separated departments, an employee can only be elected as the trade union representative for the location at which that individual is employed.

C.

The election is not valid until it has been approved by HK HANDEL and Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver is notified of this.

D.

This notification shall take place as quickly as possible and no later than 14 days after the election.

E.

Any objection from the company's side to the election shall be received by the trade union no later than 14 days after receipt of the notification of the election.

F.

As many as possible of those entitled to vote should take part in the election of the trade union representative.

G.

By virtue of its approval, HK HANDEL guarantees that all those entitled to vote will have the opportunity to take part in the election.

H.

The wage progression of the trade union representative may not be stopped as a result of their role as trade union representative.

3. Tasks of the trade union representative

A.

It is the trade union representative's duty with respect to both their colleagues and their trade union, as well as to the company, to do their best to promote and maintain regular and good working conditions.

B.

When a case only concerns the personal circumstances of an individual employee or employees, the employee should discuss this directly with the management.

C.

In matters concerning pay and working conditions, the trade union representative may, when so desired, present complaints or requests to the management.

D.

Should the trade union representative not be satisfied with the company's decision, the trade union representative may ask the trade union to handle the case, but it is the duty of the trade union representative and the employees to continue to work without interruption until another decision is reached by the trade union management.

E.

The execution of duties for which the trade union representative is responsible shall take place in such a way that it causes as little disturbance as possible to their work. If the trade union representative has to leave their work in order to fulfil their obligations, this may only take place after being agreed in advance with the management.

F.

Where agreed with the management, the trade union representative shall be granted the time off necessary to attend relevant courses, to the extent permitted by the nature and scope of the work.

4. Remuneration of elected trade union representatives

A.

Trade union representatives elected in accordance with subsection 2 will receive an annual fee which is divided into four and then paid quarterly. The remuneration will be paid as compensation for the trade union representative taking on this role outside of their working hours.

B.

This remuneration is not pensionable and does not give entitlement to holiday pay.

C.

The electorate is determined when a new trade union representative is elected and then afterwards once a year at the end of August. When there is no longer a post for a trade union representative, the remuneration will no longer be paid.

D.

The remuneration will be as follows:

Trade union representatives with an electorate of up to 49 people will receive an annual fee of DKK 8,000. As of 1 April 2017, the fee is DKK 9,000.

Trade union representatives with an electorate of 50 to 99 people will receive an annual fee of DKK 15,000. As of 1 April 2017, the fee is DKK 16,500.

Trade union representatives with an electorate of 100 people or more will receive an annual fee of DKK 30,000. As of 1 April 2017, the fee is DKK 33,000.

Where an agreement on the pay/remuneration for the trade union representative is already in place, this will be offset against the aforementioned remuneration.

The remuneration shall be paid by the Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL Training and Cooperation Fund for the Retail Area, cf. point a of section 7(2).

5. Access to IT and the Internet

If there is IT and Internet access at the trade union representative's workplace, the trade union representative shall have the access required to carry out their role.

6. Local trade union branches, notices

A.

If the unionised employees of a company or department thereof form a local union branch, the trade union representative shall be the chair.

B.

To the extent that the work permits this, the management may, when requested to do so, grant permission for the time off necessary for members of the board of the local union to attend relevant courses.

C.

The local union branch may put up union notices to the members in a place accessible by the employees. This place shall be agreed with the

management, which will also receive a copy of the notices put up.

D.

Where possible, the company will make a room available for the local union branch's meetings.

7. Refresher training on termination of trade union representative duties

A.

An employee who after 1 May 2017 ceases to be a trade union representative after having worked as such for a consecutive period of at least three years, and who continues to work for the company, is entitled to a discussion with the company on the needs of the employee for refresher training. This discussion will be held no later than within a month of the trade union representative duties ending and at the employee's request. As part of the discussion, it is clarified whether there is a need for refresher training, and how the training should take place.

B.

If agreement cannot be reached, the employee has the right to three weeks' refresher training. After six continuous years of trade union representative duties, the employee is entitled to six weeks' refresher training.

C.

The employee will participate in the refresher training without any deductions being made from their pay. It is a prerequisite that a statutory system of reimbursement of lost wages be provided for the training. The reimbursement of lost wages is the duty of the company.

When providing refresher training, support can be granted from the HK Handel Skills Development Fund in accordance with the applicable rules on this. The skills development fund will set aside the means necessary for this. Weeks of self-selected training are not part of the refresher training.

8. Dismissal of a trade union representative

A.

Where a company finds that there are compelling reasons to dismiss a trade union representative, cf. point b, the company shall approach Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver, which will then notify HK, which in turn can request an organisation meeting.

The organisation meeting shall in such cases be held no later than seven calendar days after notification.

Should the company stand by this dismissal after the organisation meeting, the notice of termination will be considered to have been given when notification took place.

B.

The dismissal of a trade union representative shall be based on compelling reasons. It goes without saying that the mere fact of an employee acting as a trade union representative may never give rise to the individual being dismissed or their position being undermined.

C.

The terms and conditions of employment of the trade union representative cannot be suspended within the notice period or before HK HANDEL has had the opportunity to question the legitimacy of the dismissal via industrial dispute procedures, unless this has been agreed locally. Every effort should be made for the industrial dispute procedures to progress as quickly as possible so that the decision is made before the end of the notice period.

D.

However, these rules do not apply if the company legitimately dismisses the trade union representative pursuant to section 4 of the Danish Salaried Employees Act.

E.

If the company stands by its dismissal of the trade union representative after the dismissal is acknowledged to be illegitimate by the industrial dispute procedures, the company is obliged, in addition to the wages for the notice period, to pay compensation in an amount which shall depend on the circumstances of the case. This compensation is final, meaning that compensation cannot also be claimed under the rules on unfair dismissal.

F.

The question of the legitimacy of an trade union representative's dismissal and the amount of any compensation due to the trade union representative shall be determined by industrial arbitration.

G.

Should there be any special circumstances in the case which clearly indicate that anti-union behaviour has taken place, this question may be brought before the Danish Labour Court.

H.

If the trade union alleges that the dismissal of a trade union representative is unfair, a claim for compensation or reinstatement respectively may

be lodged pursuant to section 4(3) of the Main Agreement. This question may, together with the question of whether there are compelling reasons for the dismissal, be dealt with as a single case in the event of industrial arbitration.

I.

A salaried employee, or an employee similar to a salaried worker, who ceases to be a trade union representative after having worked as such for at least one year, and who continues to be employed at the company, is entitled to six weeks' notice of termination in addition to the employee's individual notice, if the employee is dismissed within one year of the end of the trade union representative duties.

This rule shall apply only to trade union representatives dismissed after 1 May 2017.

SECTION 9. DISPUTES

1. Disputes

When handling disputes between the parties regarding the interpretation of the collective agreement, please refer to the "Standard rules for handling industrial disputes".

If an industrial dispute or dispute over legislation on employment and working conditions etc. cannot be resolved locally at the individual company, the dispute can be negotiated with the assistance of the parties in accordance with the rules below, unless other rules are laid down in the collective agreement, in the main agreement or elsewhere.

Notice should be directed to the opposing party. This document should indicate the parties concerned and the circumstances of the dispute as well as the case handler concerned. The case shall be presented in such a way that it will be possible for any decision to be made on the basis of the information in the document.

2. Organisation meeting

Where the dispute cannot be resolved on the basis of existing information etc., either party may request that an organisation meeting be held. The time and place of this shall be agreed as quickly as possible and no later than 14 days after receipt of the request, since the meeting is to take place no later than four weeks after the agreement was made, unless there are holidays or special circumstances.

The organisation meeting shall be held at the company unless otherwise agreed. Minutes of the organisation meeting are normally taken.

3. General questions

For questions of a general nature relating to the interpretation of the collective agreement, Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL may request that a meeting be held immediately at Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver's offices so the matter can be discussed between these parties. Such a meeting shall normally be held no later than four weeks after the request is made.

Disputes concerning the rules in this section, including compliance with the deadlines, shall be brought before the main committee.

4. Term

The current rules can be terminated by either party with three months' notice.

SECTION 10. WORKING ENVIRONMENT

Please refer to the provisions in the working environment legislation.

The parties agree that for keyboard work and work at cash registers in shops, sufficient rest time for muscles under strain shall be given at regular intervals.

At companies where there is no working environment organisation, the trade union representative elected pursuant to section 8 may direct requests or bring complaints to the company which relate to working environment issues. Where there is a working environment organisation in place, requests or complaints shall be dealt with by the company's working environment organisation.

Where agreed with the management, the working environment representative shall to the extent permitted by the nature and scope of the work be granted the time off necessary to attend relevant health and safety courses. This time off is unpaid unless stated otherwise in the Danish Working Environment Act.

If there is IT and Internet access at the working environment representative's workplace, the working environment representative shall have the necessary access required to carry out their role.

The parties otherwise agree that cases relating to this section and the working environment legislation should be dealt with between the parties, if agreement cannot be reached locally.

SECTION 11. PERSONAL NOTICE PERIODS

1. Salaried employees

For employees who are salaried employees, please refer to the provisions of the Danish Salaried Employees Act.

2. Non-salaried employees

A. NOTICE PERIODS

For employees who are not covered by the Danish Salaried Employees Act, the following notice periods apply:

In the first three months following appointment, both sides can terminate the employment without notice, meaning that the employeeleaves at the end of normal working hours on the day concerned.

From the employee's side:

After three months of continuous employment: one month to the end of a month.

From the employer's side:

•

After three months of continuous employment: one month to the end of a month.

- After two years of continuous employment: two months to the end of a month.
- After three years of continuous employment: three months to the end of a month.

B. SEVERANCE PAY

If an employee who has been continuously employed at the same company for three, six or eight years is dismissed through no fault of their own, the company must in connection with the employee's departure pay them one, two or three times a special severance pay amount of DKK 2,500.

There will be no severance pay if the employee on their departure has found another job, is receiving a pension or for other reasons is not receiving unemployment benefit. Finally, there will be no severance pay if the employee is in a role similar to that of a salaried employee or is already entitled to severance pay, an extended period of notice or similar terms that give better rights than the general rules on termination in the collective agreement.

If the employee's average weekly working hours are less than 37 hours, the amount will be calculated pro rata.

This provision applies in connection with termination of employment after 1 May 2017.

3. Time off in the event of termination

Employees whose employment is terminated due to restructuring, cut backs, company closures or other circumstances on the part of the company are entitled to time off with pay of up to two hours as soon as possible following termination, allowing for the needs of the company's operations, to receive guidance from an unemployment insurance fund/trade union.

SECTION 12. ENTRY INTO FORCE AND TERMINATION OF THE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

1.50 per cent rule

A. CONDITIONS

HK HANDEL may only enter into a collective agreement with members of Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver through Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver.

It is a condition that, at the time of presentation of the request, HK HANDEL members account for at least 50 per cent of those employed within the intended scope of the collective agreement.

Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver shall not require the 50 per cent rule to be met in cases where a company would like a collective agreement to be drawn up for its employees, provided that in the specific case it is otherwise reasonable for a collective agreement to be entered into.

A collective agreement request may be presented to individual departments if they, as a result of significant geographic separation or significant separation in terms of working conditions, can be considered to be independent departments.

The question of the demarcation of the individual workplace is determined in accordance with the practice hitherto applied to the closing of collective agreements.

Even if the above conditions for the creation of a collective agreement have not been met, HK HANDEL is authorised to negotiate on behalf of its members with companies that make arrangements breaching the fundamental principles of the collective agreement or that commit other similar breaches, e.g. by paying less than this collective agreement, and also where there are problems relating to the legislation on

employment and working conditions. The negotiations may, if one of the parties so wishes, take place with the assistance of the umbrella organisations.

Members of HK employed at the company may also, by authorising a colleague (spokesperson) to represent them, allow this person, on behalf of the members, to request negotiations with the company regarding the circumstances mentioned in the previous paragraph. The spokesperson shall be a member of HK and have been authorised by over half of the members within the scope of the collective agreement at the relevant company, cf. section 12 of the collective agreement.

B. PROCEDURE

When presenting a collective agreement request, HK HANDEL shall inform Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver of how many of the total number of employees within the area that the request concerns are members of HK HANDEL.

If there is a difference of opinion on the number of employees to be included in the calculation to determine whether the 50 per cent rule has been met, HK HANDEL and the company shall indicate to Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver which employees are considered to fall within the scope of the collective agreement. If there is still a difference of opinion on whether HK HANDEL meets the conditions for creation of a collective agreement, HK HANDEL may present a request for negotiations between the organisations.

The timing of the negotiations shall be agreed within 14 days of the request being made.

If an agreement cannot be reached during these negotiations, the matter may be settled by industrial arbitration.

If HK HANDEL documents that the conditions for creation of a collective agreement have been met, the collective agreement shall enter into force on the first day of a month if the request is presented no later than the 15th day of a month. If the collective agreement request is presented after the 15th day of a month, the collective agreement shall enter into force on the first day of the following month. In cases where an agreement is reached on special provisions pursuant to section 12(2), point a, paragraph 2, an agreement shall also be reached on the date of entry into force of the collective agreement.

2. Scope of collective agreement

A. NATIONAL COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT OR SPECIAL PROVISIONS

If HK HANDEL meets the conditions in subsection (1) enabling a request for a collective agreement to be made, the collective agreement will enter into force unless the individual company is run in accordance with a concession granted by a public authority or under conditions which are comparable to this.

The parties can make a request for special provisions if a company has working conditions or jobs which are not covered by the provisions of the collective agreement.

B. TRANSPOSITION OF COLLECTIVE AGREEMENTS TO THE NATIONAL COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

A collective agreement between HK HANDEL and a company joining Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver shall be transposed on expiry of the collective agreement to the present collective agreement, unless the conditions in subsection (2), point a, paragraph 2 on the request for special provisions have been met.

The transposition shall take place in such a way that wage rates which are below or above those of the collective agreement are amended to these, with employees whose wages were paid at a higher rate receiving personal supplements that cannot be offset and that must correspond at least to the difference between the collective agreement's rates and the higher rate at which the individual was paid.

C. SCOPE OF THE NATIONAL COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

The terms and conditions laid down in this collective agreement apply to all employees within the sphere of activity that the collective agreement generally covers.

However, salaried employees in executive posts, or whose authority binds the company to a large extent, or whose duties, owing to their very confidential nature, make them company representatives, do not fall within the scope of the collective agreement.

Retail employees employed exclusively to work in offices and warehouses are considered to be covered by the Salaried Employees' Collective Agreement for Trade, Knowledge and Service between Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL / HK/Privat. In exceptional cases, but not in fixed work schedules, these employees may however provide relief cover in the shop.

If the planning and timing of the working hours follow the rules applicable to the company's shop workers, it may be agreed that the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement applies.

3. Term of the collective agreement

The earliest that notice of termination of the collective agreement can be given is 1 March 2020. The notice period is three months, unless otherwise agreed between the umbrella organisations.

HK HANDEL

Jens Mathiesen Laurits Rønn Per Tønnesen

EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS

Agreement on employment contracts

Please refer to the current version of the Danish Act on the employer's obligation to inform workers of the conditions of employment (the Danish Employment Contract Act).

Pursuant to section 1(3) of the Danish Employment Contract Act, the parties have agreed the deviations from the Act which are set out below.

If the employment contract is not received by the employee on time, or if it contains errors, the company can be ordered to pay a fine/compensation unless the error is excusable and does not have any specific import on the employment relationship.

Any complaints of breaches shall be reported to the company. If the circumstance complained about has not been remedied within five working days, a written claim shall be lodged with Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver without delay indicating exactly what the errors are. If errors in the employment contract are then remedied or the missing document is received within five working days of receipt of the claim at Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver, the company cannot be ordered to pay a fine/compensationunless there are systematic breaches of the provision on employment contracts.

In all cases, the employee must have received the aforementioned information on the employment relationship no later than 15 days after the claim is lodged. If this does not happen, the company can be ordered to pay a fine/compensation.

Claims concerning whether the company has met its obligation to provide information can be lodged in accordance with the rules on industrial disputes.

If an employee hired before 1 July 1993 would like an employment contract, cf. subsection (1), and the employee presents a request for such a document, the company shall produce the proper information within two months of the request.

WORKING ENVIRONMENT

Agreement on night work and health checks

NIGHT WORK

Night workers are employees who in the period from 23:00 to 06:00:

a) Normally carry out at least three hours of their daily working hours during the night-time period or

b) Perform night work for at least 300 hours within a period of 12 months

FREQUENCY

Employees shall be offered free health checks before they start employment as night workers.

The parties have also agreed that employees who are classified as night workers under this agreement shall be offered health checks at regular intervals not exceeding two years.

WHEN THE HEALTH CHECK WILL TAKE PLACE

The parties agree that, where the health check takes place outside the relevant employee's normal working hours, the employee will be compensated for this.

WHO PERFORMS THE HEALTH CHECK

The parties agree that the health check shall be carried out by a doctor with an understanding of the connection between night work and health problems.

REPORT TO THE SAFETY COMMITTEE AT LARGE COMPANIES

The parties consider it natural that the company's safety committee should verify on its own initiative that the health check has been carried out in accordance with the rules.

WORKING HOURS

Agreement on implementing the EU Working Time Directive (Council Directive of 23 November 1993) Following a review of the applicable working environment and holiday legislation and the collective agreement entered into between the parties, Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL have agreed that the above Directive may be deemed to have been implemented in relation to employees covered both by the collective agreement and by the Directive, with the exception of the points below, for which the following is agreed:

1.

The average weekly working hours within the retail area calculated over a 16-week period may not exceed 48 hours including overtime, cf. section 1 of the collective agreement.

The provision in the collective agreement on limiting overtime work remains in effect.

Where the daily working time exceeds six hours, employees are entitled to a total of 30 minutes in breaks during this time.

2. The night-time period is defined as the time from 23:00 to 06:00.

Night workers are defined as employees who normally carry out at least three hours of their daily working time during the night-time period or work at night for at least 300 hours within a 12-month period.

The normal average working hours for night workers, calculated over a 26-week period, may not exceed eight hours per 24-hour period on average. The weekly day off is not included in this calculation.

In the event of particularly risky work or work that involves significant physical or mental stress, cf. section 57 of the Danish Working Environment Act, night workers may not work more than eight hours in any 24-hour period in which they do night work.

Night workers who suffer from health problems demonstrably attributable to the fact that they do night work shall be transferred where possible to daytime work that suits them.

3.

Any disputes concerning the present agreement shall be finally decided by industrial arbitration, cf. section 9 of the collective agreement. It is agreed that the industrial arbitral tribunal appointed to decide upon any such dispute shall be competent to impose appropriate sanctions.

In the event of termination of the collective agreement, the parties are obliged to comply with the provisions of this agreement relating to the implementation of the EU Working Time Directive until another agreement takes its place.

The present agreement may be terminated by either party giving three months' notice at any time, with a view to amendment where changes are made to the above Directive. Where the provision in the collective agreement provides a better level of protection for employees than the Directive, the implementation agreement shall not apply, cf. Article 18(3) of the Directive.

4.

If amendments to the Directive remove the prerequisites for entering into this agreement, the parties shall initiate negotiations on this.

Agreement on implementing the EU Part-time Work Directive

(Council Directive of 15 December 1997 on part-time work)

With reference to the general agreement between the umbrella organisations on procedures for implementing EC Directives of 1 July 1996, the following supplementary agreement has been entered into to implement the Council Directive on part-time work (the EU Part-time Work Directive).

SECTION 1. SCOPE

This agreement covers part-time employees within the scope of the Confederation of Danish Employers (DA)/LO who are covered by a collective agreement within this area and who are not or may not be assured of the rights laid down in the Directive under any existing agreement.

The agreement shall apply subject to more specific Community provisions, particularly any Community provisions concerning equal treatment or equal opportunities for men and women.

SECTION 2. PURPOSE OF THE AGREEMENT

The purpose of the agreement is:

a.

to provide for the removal of discrimination against part-time workers and to improve the quality of part-time work.

b.

to facilitate the development of part-time work on a voluntary basis and to contribute to the flexible organisation of working time in a manner which takes into account the needs of employers and workers.

SECTION 3. DEFINITIONS

For the purpose of this agreement:

a.

"part-time worker": means an employee whose normal hours of work, calculated on a weekly basis or on average over a period of employment of up to one year, are less than the normal hours of work of a comparable full-time worker.

b.

"comparable full full-time worker": means a full-time worker in the same establishment having the same type of employment contract or relationship, who is engaged in the same or similar work/occupation,

due regard will be given to other considerations which may include seniority (length of service) and qualifications/skills.

Where there is no comparable full-time worker in the same establishment, the comparison shall be made by reference to the applicable collective agreement or, where there is no applicable collective agreement, in accordance with national law, collective agreements or practice.

SECTION 4. PRINCIPLE OF NON-DISCRIMINATION

In respect of employment conditions, part-time workers shall not be treated in a less favourable manner than comparable full-time workers solely because they work part-time unless different treatment is justified on objective grounds.

SECTION 5. OPPORTUNITIES FOR PART-TIME WORK

The principle of proportionate pay and proportionate rights, cf. the "pro rata temporis" principle, shall apply to rights arising from collective agreements.

Where appropriate and justified on objective grounds, the parties to the collective agreement may make access to particular conditions of employment subject to length of service, working hours or earnings.

Qualifications relating to access by part-time workers to particular conditions of employment should be reviewed periodically in accordance with the principle of non-discrimination set out in the first paragraph.

SECTION 6. ENTRY INTO FORCE

In view of the purpose of this agreement, cf. section 2, and the principle of non-discrimination, cf. section 4, the following is agreed:

If the parties to the collective agreement should identify obstacles which may limit the opportunities for part-time work, these should be raised for discussion with a view to eliminating them.

A worker's refusal to transfer from full-time to part-time work or vice versa should not in itself constitute a valid reason for termination of employment, without prejudice to termination in accordance with national law, collective agreements and practice, for other reasons such as may arise from the operational requirements of the establishment concerned.

Subject to collective agreements, practice, etc., employers should as far as possible within the framework of the provisions on part-time employees in the collective agreement applicable to the employment give consideration to the following:

a.

requests by workers to transfer from full-time to part-time work that becomes available in the establishment;

b.

requests by workers to transfer from part-time to full-time work or to increase their working time should the opportunity arise;

c.

the provision of timely information on the availability of part-time and full-time positions in the establishment in order to facilitate transfers from full-time to part-time or vice versa;

d.

measures to facilitate access to part-time work for workers covered by this agreement and, where appropriate, to facilitate access by part-time workers to vocational training to enhance career opportunities and occupational mobility;

e.

the provision of appropriate information to existing bodies representing employees about part-time work in the company.

SECTION 7. TERMINATION

The agreement may be terminated by giving six months' notice to 1 July of any year. If one of the organisations desires any changes to the agreement, it shall inform the other party of this six months prior to termination, whereupon negotiations shall be entered into without recourse to arbitration in order to reach a consensus and so avoid termination of the agreement.

Even if the agreement is terminated, the parties are obliged to comply with its provisions until another agreement takes its place or the Directive is amended.

SECTION 8. PROVISIONS IN COLLECTIVE AGREEMENTS/

IMPLEMENTING AGREEMENTS

Provisions in collective agreements and other agreements pursuant to these, and provisions in implementing agreements, shall take precedence over this agreement where they correctly implement provisions of the EU Part-time Work Directive.

This agreement shall not affect the protection given to part-time employees by existing collective agreements between the parties.

SECTION 9. INDUSTRIAL DISPUTE PROCEDURES

Where there is any disagreement on exercising the rights laid down in this agreement, this shall be handled according to the normal rules of industrial disputes and employment law. Where there are no such rules, the principle set out in section 33 of the Danish Labour Court Act shall apply, according to which the standard rules in place between DA and LO at any given time for handling industrial disputes shall apply.

Agreement on retirement scheme

The employee may be included in a retirement scheme from five years before the applicable retirement age for the employee.

FLEXIBLE WAGE ACCOUNT

In the retirement scheme, the employee may choose to utilise the payment to the flexible wage account to finance days off for senior employees.

PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS

If the employee would like to take additional days off for senior employees, this can be achieved by converting regular pension contributions, cf. section 4. The converted pension contribution can also be added to the employee's flexible wage account.

UNTAKEN EXTRA HOLIDAY DAYS

The employee and the company may agree that the employee can save up the value of extra holiday days not taken from five years before the retirement scheme can be implemented, cf. section 5(2), and accumulate this.

The value of this may be paid out in connection with taking additional days off for senior employees.

According to this provision, the maximum number of extra holiday days that can be taken shall correspond to the accrued amount, cf. the payment below.

TAKING DAYS OFF FOR SENIOR EMPLOYEES

When taking days off for senior employees, the flexible wage account will be reduced by an amount corresponding to sick pay.

CHOICE REGARDING RETIREMENT SCHEME

Unless otherwise agreed, the employee must provide the company written notification no later than 1 April of whether the employee wishes to be included in a retirement scheme with days off for senior employees in the coming holiday year, and in which case, what proportion of the pension contribution the employee wishes to convert to pay. The employee shall also give notice of how many days off for senior employees the employee wishes to take in the coming holiday year. This choice is binding for the employee and will continue in subsequent calendar years. However, the employee may each year before 1 April inform the company if changes are requested for the coming holiday year.

In the first year of the retirement scheme, the conversion will take place from the wage period in which the employee is five years from the retirement age in effect at any given time.

Unless otherwise agreed, days off for senior employees shall be taken according to the same rules applicable for taking extra holiday days, cf. section 5(2).

OTHER FORMS OF REDUCTION IN WORKING HOURS

As an alternative to days off for senior employees, the employee and company may agree on a reduction in working hours in the form of e.g. periods of consecutive days off, permanent reduction in the weekly working hours or some other approach.

In the event of an agreement on permanent reduction in the weekly working hours, converted pension contributions may be paid regularly as a supplement to pay.

The conversion will not affect the basis for calculation laid down in the collective agreement, so it is cost-neutral to the company.

As the provision shall enter into force on 1 March 2017, this means that employees cannot take days off for senior employees until the 2017–2018 holiday year.

Agreement on weekday holiday rules for flexjob employees

- 1. Flexjobs set up in accordance with the rules before 1 January 2013
 - The reduction shall be proportionate to the employee's actual working hours relative to a 37-hour full-time post. A relative reduction of the weekday holiday reduction shall be implemented for full-time employees on the basis of 7.5 hours per weekday holiday.

For example, flexjob employees who work 15 hours per week: $15/37 \ge 7.5 = 3.04$ hours per weekday holiday

2. Flexjobs set up in accordance with the rules after 1 January 2013

The reduction is paid in accordance with the actual working hours agreed between the individual employee and the company, which is why there shall be no reduction for reduced intensity. The reduction is paid in accordance with the relevant schedule for part-time employees, cf. section 1(2).

Agreement on increased working hours

The parties have agreed that the accommodation of a mutual desire to increase employment and flexibility as well as to strengthen each employee's connection to the labour market can be achieved though an increased awareness of:

a)

Timely and appropriate information on the availability of part-time and full-time positions in each company.

b)

Employees' individual wishes as regards reducing or increasing their agreed working hours.

c)

The availability of hours for company employees based on the company's operational needs and the flexible organisation of working hours.

Agreement on amendment to working hours schedule period

At each workplace, a written local agreement can be entered into with the trade union representative for a working hours schedule period of between two and 26 weeks. If there is no trade union representative at the workplace, the local agreement will be entered into with the local HK branch.

It is assumed that part-time employees who would like more hours/to work full-time will be accommodated in connection with the conclusion of the local agreement on changing the working hours schedule period.

The number of weekends off during the period shall be adapted proportionate to the agreed working hours schedule period.

It must be ensured that the local agreement includes rules on termination/renegotiation.

The calculation of hours, in accordance with the implementation of the EU Working Time Directive, in section 1(1), point b, paragraph 4, shall be over the agreed working hours schedule period.

It is agreed that the above is a pilot scheme applicable only during the period of the collective agreement. The pilot scheme will therefore lapse on 29 February 2020. Local agreements that have already been entered into will, however, continue, regardless of the expiry of the above, until possible termination in accordance with the rules on termination in the local agreement.

Agreement on night work

The parties are aware that the development trends within the scope of the collective agreement may mean that there is a higher incidence of night work. Throughout the period the parties will therefore carefully monitor and discuss the development of night work within the scope of the collective agreement, including the planning of night work.

The parties agree that it may be appropriate to discuss this with the trade union representative, and where there is no trade union representative, with any consultation committee, before the company introduces night work.

ELECTRONIC DOCUMENTS

Agreement on electronic documents

The companies can effectively supply holiday cards, wage slips and any other documents which shall be exchanged according to the ongoing employment relationship via the electronic post solutions that may be available, e.g. e-Boks, or via e-mail.

The wage slip may be used as a holiday card in the ongoing employment relationship. When an employee leaves, holiday cards are issued in accordance with the applicable rules.

When the employee has opted out of receiving digital mail from public authorities, electronic solutions will not be used.

TRAINEES

Agreement on transitional rules for new wage determination for trainees

At the end of the collective agreement period beginning on 1 March 2017, section 2(9), point A shall lapse, after which only point A.2 shall apply. When section 2(9), point A lapses, the following transitional rules apply to trainees who started training in accordance with section 2(9), point A: Trainees who, in the event that section 2(9), point A lapses, were on a three-year pay scale in accordance with section 2(9), point A shall thereafter be paid on a three-year pay scale in accordance with point A.2 when they would have been paid on a four-year pay scale in accordance with section 2(9), point A. Trainees receiving the supplement in section 2(9), point A.2 shall also be paid this supplement (DKK 1,000) on transition to point A.2. Trainees cannot receive less pay as a result of section 2(9) lapsing.

Trainees who prior to 1 March 2016 have been paid in accordance with the hitherto applicable rules, cf. section 2(9), point A, cannot as a result of the rule change receive less pay. Trainees who have started their employment in accordance with section 2(9), point A and who on transition to section 2(9), point A.2 as at 1 March 2016 are on a three-year pay scale in accordance with section 2(9), point A shall be paid on a three-year pay scale in accordance with section 2(9), point A. Shall be paid on a three-year pay scale in accordance with section 2(9), point A. Trainees receiving the supplement in point A.2 shall also be paid this supplement (DKK 1,000) on transition to point A.2.

HOLIDAY

Agreement on holidays

This agreement has been entered into pursuant to the Danish Holiday Act and means that the deviations from said Act and associated Executive Order set out below shall apply.

INDUSTRIAL DISPUTE PROCEDURES

Disputes concerning the provisions of this agreement shall be settled by industrial dispute procedures. Disputes concerning other parts of the Danish Holiday Act may be settled by industrial dispute procedures provided that this has been agreed in the individual case.

EARNING AND TAKING HOLIDAYS IN HOURS ETC.

Holiday can be earned and taken in other ways, including in hours, than stipulated in the Danish Holiday Act.

If a company decides that holiday is to be earned and taken in six-day holiday weeks, it shall be ensured that employees who work five days a week are not worse off than if they had taken holiday in a six-day holiday week.

If the holiday is earned in hours, a full-time employee shall earn 185 hours of holiday per entitlement year, equivalent to five weeks x 37 hours.

Part-time employees earn a proportional number of hours of holiday per entitlement year. An employee who has earned holiday over the course of a full entitlement year is, however, entitled to take at least four weeks of paid holiday.

When the employee leaves, the accrued holiday entitlement in hours is converted into days.

An agreement on earning and taking holiday in hours can only be entered into if a holiday card scheme is used.

The company shall, provided the holiday is earned and taken in hours, inform the employees of this before the start of the entitlement year.

HOLIDAY WITHOUT PAY

Please refer to section 2(15) of the collective agreement.

CARRYING OVER HOLIDAY

The company and the employee can enter into an agreement to carry over any accrued holiday entitlement in excess of four weeks to the following holiday year.

It is a prerequisite that the agreement be made in writing. The agreement shall be entered into before 30 September after the end of the holiday year. The company shall also within the same deadline give written notice to whoever is paying the holiday pay that the holiday is being carried over.

If an employee who has carried over holiday leaves before taking all the holiday, they will be paid for holiday in excess of five weeks. Holiday pay is calculated for monthly-paid workers at 12.5 per cent of the holiday entitlement pay at the leaving date. If, however, the employee has earned holiday pay at a previous employer, the holiday pay is paid out from the holiday account ("FerieKonto") or from the previous employer, if a holiday card has been used.

Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver guarantees holiday carried over to the balance on the holiday card issued by Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver.

Notice can be given that holiday carried over is to be taken within a month, since the holiday is considered to be outstanding holiday.

However, any holiday corresponding to holiday carried over can only be ordered to be taken in a notice period if the holiday has already been allocated to this period or if the parties agree otherwise on this.

Any holiday corresponding to holiday carried over cannot be considered as taken during a dismissal period unless this has been agreed.

If, due to illness, maternity leave or other legitimate obstacle to holiday, an employee has been prevented from taking holiday, the employee and the employer may enter into an agreement on holiday being carried over to the following holiday year. The carrying over of such holiday can be agreed regardless of the number of holiday days otherwise carried over. The agreement shall be entered into according to the same rules as above.

OFFSETTING HOLIDAY ALLOWANCE

Holiday allowance of 1 per cent of the entitlement year's pay shall be paid out no later than at the same time as the corresponding holiday begins. If the holiday allowance is paid out before the holiday begins, this may be offset when the employee leaves.

HOLIDAY CARD

Certificate to prove that the employee is entitled to holiday, provided by the validation of the holiday card, possibly electronically. The validation takes place at any time according to the same rules as in the Danish Holiday Act on validation of holiday account certificates.

Employees validate their holiday card themselves by indicating the holiday days and the date that the holiday begins. Where the employee receives benefits from an unemployment insurance fund or municipality, the unemployment insurance fund or municipality shall validate the card when the employee takes holiday.

Instead of issuing a holiday card immediately after an employee leaves, the company may decide to issue a holiday card after the end of the entitlement year and no later than 15 March.

In such a case, the employee changing workplace during the entitlement year shall be notified by the company when they leave – possibly on their final wage slip – that they have holiday pay due. The notification shall include information on the employment period and encourage the employee to inform the company of any change of address. Where the company is not in immediate possession of the employee's address when the holiday card is to be sent, the company is obliged to make an extra effort to locate the employee – possibly by contacting the local HK branch which will assist in the search for the address.

If the employee who is leaving is due holiday pay for the current holiday year, the company will issue a holiday card for the period to date.

ENTRY INTO FORCE AND TERMINATION OF COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT ETC.

Agreement on the understanding of the 50 per cent rule

WHEN SHOULD THE RULE BE FOLLOWED?

The calculation to determine whether the 50 per cent rule has been met is based on the employment position in the week in which the request for a collective agreement was received by Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver.

WHICH EMPLOYEES ARE INCLUDED?

a.

Only employees within the scope of the collective agreement are included.

b.

Employees covered by section 12(2), point c, paragraph 2 of the collective agreement cannot be included.

c.

Spouses, parents, children, siblings and other close family and relations by marriage are not included.

d.

Those who are ill or absent (holiday, days off, maternity leave) are included if they are still employed by the company, but temporary replacements for such people are not included even if the period of cover exceeds three months.

e.

Employees under notice of termination are included if they can still be regarded as being employed by the company.

Employees who leave in the relevant week are only included if they have been employed for the whole week.

Employees who join in the relevant week are included as if they had been employed by the company for the whole week.

f. Extra staff who are not employed for more than three months are not included.

g. Agency staff are not included.

- h. Home workers are not included.
- i. Union representatives are not included.

FULL-TIME/PART-TIME

a. Full-time employees, including trainees, count in full.

b.

Part-time employees are included as follows:

Under 15 hours/week:	not included
From 15 to 30 hours/week:	included at 50 per cent
30 hours/week and over:	included in full

c.

In the case of a split post, i.e. where an employee works both within and outside of the scope of the collective agreement, the work carried out within the scope of the collective agreement will be included according to the rules for part-time employees.

Agreement on non-standard agreements

It is agreed that it is appropriate to build up experience of non-standard agreements (those deviating from the collective agreement).

The parties therefore agree that, within the scope of the collective agreement, non-standard agreements may be entered into, including agreements to waive the rules laid down in the collective agreement on wages and/or working hours and on matters such as chain cooperation in the self-administration of skills development funds.

Such agreements shall be entered into locally between the company or groups of companies and the employee(s) covered by the agreement. Before the agreement can enter into force, it must be approved by the parties to the collective agreement.

EQUAL PAY

Agreement on equal pay

The parties wish to create the best conditions for women and men within the scope of the collective agreement so that they enjoy equal rights and conditions based on their individual situations and wishes – and hence also equal opportunities.

The parties therefore intend to maintain and expand a high level of participation by both men and women in the Danish labour market, where the rate of employment among women is among the highest in the world.

Equal pay is a natural part of a modern and dynamic labour market.

It is therefore agreed that gender may not have any bearing on the determination of employees' wages by the individual company.

With this agreement, the parties wish to focus more strongly on ensuring that men and women receive equal pay for the same work or work that can be assigned the same value.

It has therefore been agreed to support the individual companies and employees in their ongoing work to assure adherence to the principles of equal pay.

The parties have therefore entered into the following agreement:

Agreement on implementing the Danish Equal Pay Act

SECTION 1

There may not be any wage discrimination on grounds of sex in conflict with the rules set out in this agreement. This applies to both direct discrimination and indirect discrimination.

(2). Every company must pay equal wages to men and women, with respect to all wage elements and conditions, for the same work or work that is assigned the same value. Particularly where a vocational classification system is used to set wages, this system must be based on the same criteria for male and female employees and set up in such a way that it rules out discrimination on grounds of sex.

(3). The assessment of the value of the work shall be based on an overall evaluation of relevant qualifications and other factors.

SECTION 2

Direct discrimination occurs when one employee is treated less favourably, on grounds of sex, than another employee in a comparable situation. Any form of less favourable treatment of a female employee in connection with pregnancy and during women's 14 weeks' absence after the birth

shall be regarded as direct discrimination.

(2). Indirect discrimination occurs when a provision, criterion or practice which is apparently neutral treats employees of one gender less favourably than employees of the other gender, unless the provision, condition or practice has an objective basis in a practical purpose and the means of fulfilling it are proportionate and necessary.

(3). Pay comprises the general basic or minimum wage and all other benefits that the employee receives directly or indirectly from the company in money or in kind as a result of the employment relationship.

SECTION 3

An employee whose pay is lower than another, contrary to section 1, shall be entitled to the difference.

(2). An employee whose rights have been violated as a result of wage discrimination on grounds of sex may be granted compensation. The compensation shall be based on the employee's length of service and the general facts of the case. The compensation will normally be exhaustive. However, the parties have also agreed that the Equal Pay Board established between Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL may impose fines when there is a breach of the rules on the preparation of equal pay statistics/reports broken down by gender, cf. section 6 below, or where there are specific circumstances.

Demands for fines, cf. subsection 2, must be raised no later than the organisation meeting, cf. rules on industrial disputes. After this, there may be no demand for a fine to be paid unless there have been new breaches of section 6 or there is new information to support the presumption of systematic violations.

(3). Where a disagreement involves elements dealt with under the rules set out in the Cooperation Agreement, cf. section 6(4) below, this can be addressed in its entirety by the Equal Pay Board instead of the Cooperation Board in accordance with the principle of a single system of sanctions.

SECTION 4

An employee is entitled to disclose details of their own wage level. These details may be passed on to anybody.

SECTION 5

A company may not dismiss or suspend an employee, including a staff representative, for any other unfavourable treatment by the company in response to a complaint or because the employee or staff representative has submitted a claim for equal pay, including equal wage conditions, or because the employee has passed on details of their pay. A company may not dismiss an employee or a staff representative because they have submitted a claim pursuant to section 7(1).

(2). It is up to the company to prove that a dismissal is not in conflict with the rules given in subsection (1). If the dismissal takes place more than a year after the employee submitted a claim for equal pay, the first sentence will only apply, however, if the employee can show objective circumstances to indicate that the dismissal was undertaken contrary to subsection 1.

(3). A dismissed employee may submit a claim for compensation or reinstatement. Any reinstatement must be in accordance with the principles laid down in the main agreement. The compensation shall be based on the employee's length of service and the general facts of the case.

SECTION 6

A company with at least 35 employees shall produce annual pay statistics broken down by gender for groups of at least 10 employees of each gender grouped by the six-digit DISCO code for use in consultation and information to employees on pay differences between men and women at the company. This shall not apply, however, to companies in the agriculture, horticulture, forestry and fishing industries. If the pay statistics broken down by gender are regarded as confidential with respect to the company's legitimate interests, the details may not be passed on.

(2). The pay statistics broken down by gender pursuant to subsection (1) shall be drawn up for groups of employees with a level of detail corresponding to the 6-digit DISCO code. The company is also obliged to explain the make-up of the statistics and the definition of "pay" used.

(3). Companies that report annual pay statistics to the Confederation of Danish Employers may request pay statistics broken down by gender according to subsection (1) from Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver free of charge. Companies may also request pay statistics broken down by gender free of charge according to subsection (1) from Statistics Denmark.

(4). The company's obligation to produce pay statistics broken down by gender according to subsection (1) shall lapse if the company enters into an agreement with the employees of the company to produce a report. The report shall include a description of conditions that have a bearing on the pay of men and women in the company, and any concrete action initiatives that may last up to three years, along with the detailed monitoring of these in the reporting period. The report must cover all the company's employees and must be handled in accordance with the rules laid down in the Cooperation Agreement. The report must be produced by the end of the calendar year in which the obligation to draw up pay statistics broken down by gender was in place.

SECTION 7

An employee who does not believe that the company is meeting its obligation to pay equal wages under this agreement may apply to have the claim examined as an industrial dispute.

(2). If an employee who feels that their rights have been violated, cf. section 1, can show objective circumstances to indicate that direct or indirect discrimination has taken place, it is up to the company to prove that the principle of equal treatment has not been violated.

SECTION 8

Where HK Handel finds grounds for an equal pay case, an inspection of the company by the parties may be arranged before negotiations begin.

(2). In connection with the inspection/organisation negotiations, it shall be agreed what pay details are required for use in a possible case.

SECTION 9

Infringements of sections 1–5 and section 7(2) of this implementing agreement may be brought before either the Equal Pay Board set up between the parties or the civil courts. HK HANDEL has chosen the forum to be used when a complaint/writ is lodged. Regardless of the choice of forum, the normal possibilities of negotiation shall be exhausted, cf. section 9(1) and (2) of the collective agreement. Other matters concerning the interpretation, understanding and breach of the Danish Equal Pay Act or equivalent implementing agreements shall be brought before the Equal Pay Board set up between DA and LO/the parties.

SECTION 10

The parties have agreed that the Danish Equal Pay Act will not then apply to employment relationships covered by the collective agreement, and that any disputes concerning equal pay shall be resolved within the industrial disputes system, but cf. section 9 of this agreement.

The parties have also agreed to incorporate any amendments to the Danish Equal Pay Act into this agreement, as a consequence of possible changes to obligations under EU law.

PAY

Agreement on the pay of trainee shop assistants and shop assistants

Shop assistant training, which is an independent training programme, is also the first part of the training to become a sales assistant.

It is agreed that trainee shop assistants and trained shop assistants are covered by the rules of the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement.

For details of the pay of trainee shop assistants, please refer to section 2(10).

For details of the pay of trained shop assistants, please refer to section 2(3).

Section 6 of the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement applies otherwise to the training relationship.

SHOP ASSISTANTS

Trained shop assistants are paid in accordance with the general pay provisions for unskilled workers in the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement, although a special shop assistant supplement of DKK 750.00 per month is paid with effect from the first of the month in which the training ends.

DOCUMENT OF MUTUAL UNDERSTANDING

In connection with entering into an agreement on the pay of trained shop assistants, it has been agreed that the special shop assistant supplement of DKK 750.00 per month to the minimum wage rate applicable at any time for unskilled workers shall not be offset.

The supplement for trained shop assistants does not alter the principle that personal pay shall be agreed pursuant to the rules on this in the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement. The non-offset shop assistant supplement is not included in the assessment of the personal pay.

It is agreed that the separate time off granted for obtaining a vocational qualification, cf. point e of section 7(1) of the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement, can also be used to achieve the status of shop assistant.

It is also agreed that an employee is only entitled to the total 3 x 5 weeks of time off once, in other words the time that may be granted for achieving the status of shop assistant is withdrawn if the employee subsequently wishes to make use of point d of section 7(1) to achieve the status of sales assistant.

Agreement on phasing in flexible wage account contributions

Phasing in offlexible wage account contributions:

A.

Future members of Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver who have joined the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement no later than three months after becoming a member may opt to phase in flexible wage account contributions under the following conditions.

B.

The flexible wage account contribution will be phased in so that:

No later than three months after becoming a member of Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver, but with effect from the first of a month, 25 per cent of the flexible wage account contribution applicable on this date shall be paid.

One year after joining, the flexible wage account contribution shall be increased to 50 per cent of the flexible wage account contribution applicable on this date.

Two years after joining, the flexible wage account contribution shall be increased to 75 per cent of the flexible wage account contribution applicable on this date.

Three years after joining, the flexible wage account contribution shall be increased to the flexible wage account contribution stipulated in the collective agreement.

C.

If the collective agreement contributions for the flexible wage account are increased during the phase-in period, the company's contributions will be increased proportionally, so that the above mentioned share of the collective agreement contributions for the flexible wage account at any time are paid into the employee's flexible wage account.

D.

The manner in which the phase-in is to take place shall be specified in each case when a company joins the collective agreement.

MIDDLE MANAGERS

Agreement on the understanding of the Agreement on middle managers

1.

When the collective agreement was renewed on 1 March 2004, it was made possible for middle managers to be hired according to the pay and working hours rules in the Salaried Employees' Collective Agreement for Trade, Knowledge and Service. It is, however, agreed that middle managers may not be ordered to work more than an average of 45 hours a week over 13 weeks.

It is also agreed that where there is an agreement on function-based pay for middle managers, there shall be a fair relationship between the wage and the overall content of the post. In addition to the general principles pursuant to section 4 of the Salaried Employees' Collective Agreement for Trade, Knowledge and Service, consideration should also be given to whether the agreed wage is reasonable in relation to the wage that a skilled worker receiving the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement's minimum payment rate would earn with the payment of standard supplements for work at specific times and payment for overtime work.

It is agreed that this assessment in itself shall not form the basis for back pay claims, but over a suitable period shall merely serve as an indication of the total assessment of the fairness of the agreed wage.

A difference of opinion over the wage determination may also be settled in accordance with the general provisions of the Salaried Employees' Collective Agreement for Trade, Knowledge and Service.

Paragraph 4 above shall not be understood as implying any restriction to the employee's right to have their wage determination reviewed in accordance with the rules in the Salaried Employees' Collective Agreement for Trade, Knowledge and Service.

2.

Where a shop wishes to hire additional middle managers beyond the starting point set out in the collective agreement, this requires an agreement with HK HANDEL, cf. section 3(4) of the collective agreement. In such an agreement, emphasis shall be placed on whether the appointment of middle managers following a complete assessment is justifiable given the shop's circumstances.

3.

In the event of a temporary reduction in staff, the middle manager may retain their position as middle manager.

4.

Current practice concerning the distinction between managers/specially trusted employees will not change when the agreement on middle managers is entered into.

5.

The provisions in sections 1, 3 and 4 of the Salaried Employees' Collective Agreement for Trade, Knowledge and Service read as follows:

SECTION 1. WORKING HOURS

1.

The normal weekly effective working time constitutes up to 37 hours.

2.

The working hours are set locally at the individual company taking into consideration the interests of the employee and the company.

3.

The working hours of both full-time and part-time employees can be arranged using variable weekly working hours within a period not exceeding 26 weeks. If the working hours for the period are planned in such a way that they exceed 45 hours per week in one or more of these weeks, hours in excess of 45 hours should be paid with an overtime supplement, cf. section 3, even if the average weekly working hours for the period have not been exceeded.

All hours up to 37 hours in the individual week, cf. subsection (1), or as an average for a period, cf. paragraph 1 of the current provision, are paid for both full-time and part-time employees at the normal wage.

4.

The average weekly working hours calculated over a 26-week period may not exceed 48 hours including overtime, cf. EU Directive 93/104/EC of 23 November 1993 concerning certain aspects of the organisation of working time.

5.

For on-call shifts, telephone answering shifts and work in continuous operation, negotiations shall be opened locally on shift plans and payment rules. Where agreement cannot be reached, either party may request that the parties be involved.

6.

Employees must have an aggregate break of at least 30 minutes per day, unless otherwise agreed. The total break time per day may not exceed one hour. On days where the working hours end before 14:00, it may be agreed between the parties that breaks will not be taken.

7.

The provisions do not prevent flexitime schemes from being agreed.

8.

The employee is entitled to a day off with pay on either 24 December or 31 December, as chosen by the company. (Please note that middle managers are not entitled to a day off with pay on either 24 December or 31 December under the collective agreement.) Furthermore, the employee is entitled to time off with pay on Constitution Day.

Employees who work on the agreed day off, and who are not employed on a function-based pay basis, are paid normal overtime pay unless the day off falls on a Sunday. In the latter case, overtime shall be paid at a rate of 100 per cent.

The company and employee may agree to another day off being granted.

9.

Local agreements for increased variable working hours

At each workplace, as a pilot scheme in the collective agreement period, a written local agreement can be entered into with the trade union representative for a working hours schedule period of up to 52 weeks, provided that the average working hours are 37 hours over the working hours schedule period. If there is no trade union representative at the workplace, the agreement will be entered into with the local HK branch.

The agreement determines the framework for the increased variable working hours. Lack of consensus on understanding of the local agreement may be subject to industrial dispute procedures, cf. Section 17.

It is assumed that part-time employees who would like more hours/to work full-time will be accommodated in connection with the conclusion of the local agreement on changing the working hours schedule period.

Agreements on the timing of the working hours will be made with the individual employee or groups of employees.

It must be ensured that the local agreement will contain rules on notice periods/termination of employment. It is agreed that the above is a pilot scheme applicable only during the period of the collective agreement. The pilot scheme will therefore lapse on 29 February 2020. Local agreementsthat have already been entered into will, however, continue, regardless of the expiry of the above, until possible termination in accordance with the rules on termination in the local agreement.

SECTION 3. OVERTIME WORK

Overtime work shall be restricted as much as possible with due consideration for the needs of the company.

Overtime is only paid when the work is done on the orders of the employer or its representative at the workplace.

Where possible, notice of overtime work shall be given no later than the preceding day. For overtime work of which notice was given, but no part was actually done, and where notice of this change was given less than four hours before the overtime work was due to have started, 1 hourly rate + 50 per cent will be paid.

The rate for overtime work for which supplements can be claimed, cf. sections 1 and 2, is calculated at the hourly rate + 50 per cent for the first three hours overtime hours. Thereafter, and for all overtime worked on Sundays and weekday holidays, it is calculated at the hourly rate + 100 per cent.

Overtime work done between 00:00 and 06:00 is paid at the hourly rate + 100 per cent.

The calculation is based on half hours.

The payment is calculated from the time at which the overtime work began.

b.

If the employee is called in to work overtime without prior notice after leaving work at the end of normal working hours, the overtime supplement shall be 100 per cent.

c.

The hourly rate shall be calculated as the relevant employee's total monthly wage divided by 160.33.

2. Time off in lieu

a.

Time off in lieu of overtime may be agreed so that 50 per cent hours are exchanged for 1.5 hours off and 100 per cent hours are exchanged for two hours off for every hour of overtime worked.

b.

The timing of the time off in lieu shall be agreed between the company and the individual employee, normally with one week's notice. The time off in lieu shall where possible be granted as full or half days off and taken within two months of working the overtime.

c.

If the employee calls in sick to the company before the start of normal working hours on the day on which they were due to take agreed time off in lieu, the illness shall be considered to be an impediment to taking the time off in lieu. If the employee has planned several days of time off in lieu, the time off in lieu impediment will also apply to illness on any subsequent day off in lieu.

SECTION 4. PAY

"1. Determination of pay

A.

Pay shall be agreed directly between the company and the employee in each individual case. Wage levels, including any agreements on functionbased pay, shall be reviewed and adjusted where necessary at least once a year on an individual basis.

B.

The pay should reflect the employee's performance, qualifications, ability, flexibility and work at specific times, the nature and responsibilities of the post, and any training received.

C.

Pay systems may be introduced to the individual company with the aim of enhancing the company's competitiveness and development, as well as employee development.

D.

An employee is entitled to request negotiations with the company where the pay differs significantly from the starting level for comparable groups of employees at the company or comparable companies within the sector.

Where the pay determined for the individual employee is in obvious conflict with the condition set out in subsection 1, point b, either party may request negotiations involving both organisations.

E.

Where disparities are considered to be present in the area as a whole, the parties have a right to institute proceedings according to the rules in effect at any given time for the handling of industrial disputes, cf. the rules below on the bargaining committee.

F.

When determining wage levels, agreements may be concluded on function-based pay, taking into account the principles set out in subsection (1), point b. Such an agreement may stipulate that the pay should also include payment for overtime work and any other inconvenience, with the effect that no overtime payments are made, cf. section 3.

Any disputes on wage levels for individuals for whom function-based pay has been agreed may be brought before a bargaining committee if it is clear that there is a significant disparity between the pay and the overall nature of the post, cf. subsection (1), point b.

The bargaining committee shall be made up of two representatives from each of the parties, with a view to preventing function-based pay resulting in a large number of cases.

If a majority of the members of the bargaining committee cannot agree upon a given case, the committee shall be extended to include an impartial arbitrator appointed jointly by the parties. In the event of continued disagreement, the decision of the arbitrator shall be final.

When the committee is extended, the general practice relating to industrial arbitration shall apply, with adjustments as required by the nature of the case.

The arbitrator shall however decide, after a concrete assessment of the individual case, on the level and allocation of the costs of the case, and may impose fines for unnecessary recourse to the committee.

Finally, the arbitrator may rule that a specific case should be decided by a written procedure.

G.

Personal pay shall be negotiated and determined based on the principles laid down in the Danish Equal Pay Act.

2. Flexible wage account

A. Introduction

To address individual wishes for a choice between time off, pension or pay, the individual employee shall be given their own flexible wage account.

B. Deposits

2.7 per cent of the holiday entitlement pay shall be deposited in the flexible wage account. As of 1 March 2018, 3.4 per cent of the holiday entitlement pay shall be deposited in the flexible wage account. As of 1 March 2019, 4.0 per cent of the holiday entitlement pay shall be deposited in the flexible wage account.

C. Extra holiday days and pension

Each year in March, if the employee has accrued extra holiday entitlement at that time, the employee may choose by means of written notification to the company whether to convert one or more of the extra holiday days in the next holiday year to a deposit in the flexible wage account rather than taking them as holiday. An extra holiday day can be converted into 0.5 per cent of the holiday entitlement pay.

All savings deposits placed in the flexible wage account contain holiday pay and also holiday allowance for the deposit.

Employees who are entitled to an occupational pension under the rules of the collective agreement when making their decision can inform the company each year in March that all or part of the savings deposit to the flexible wage account is to be paid into the pension scheme in the next holiday year. The company may set minimum limits for the deposit of monthly pension contributions of DKK 75. If the amount per month is less than this minimum contribution, the company may decide to combine the contributions for two months.

The deposit of extra pension contributions does not trigger an employer's contribution for the deposit.

D. Redemptions

Employees can opt to redeem an amount from their flexible wage account via their wage payment by way of time off, e.g., holiday, extra holiday days, time off for dependants or days off under the collective agreement, but no more than twice a year.

The employee shall notify the company when a redemption transaction is to be made from the account. Notice shall be given no later than the 10th of the month in which the redemption is to take place. It is the employee who decides the size of the redemption, but amounts larger than the current balance cannot be paid out.

E. Surplus saving with the flexible wage account

If there is a surplus in the flexible wage account at the end of the holiday year, the amount is carried over to the next holiday year for redemption then.

If the employee leaves, the flexible wage account will be closed and any surplus paid together with the last wage payment from the company.

F. Local agreements

With the assistance of the trade union representative, the company may enter into agreements on redemption, including an agreement that amounts can be redeemed without the employee taking time off. Local agreements cannot, however, be entered into for the balance in the flexible wage account to be redeemed regularly with the other pay.

3. Calculation of pay for incomplete months

A.

When the pay for individual days is calculated for a person who has joined or left the company in the course of the month or has taken holiday or unpaid leave, it shall be calculated as the monthly wage minus 4.8 per cent for each day the relevant employee was not at work.

B.

Payment shall be made for Saturdays off and weekday holidays that fall within the work period.

C.

The parties agree that section 4(3), point a does not imply that deductions should be made when an employee on function-based pay takes compensatory leave as part of the agreement on function-based pay."

PENSION

Agreement on pension schemes

1. RESPECT FOR EXISTING AGREEMENTS

Existing company schemes that cover all groups of employees covered by this collective agreement may take the place of Pension for salaried employees – PFA Pension under the following conditions:

Contributions to the scheme must always be at least equal to the contribution stipulated in the collective agreement, and they must at least provide the insured (or their dependants) with an old age pension, cf. below, and a one-off sum of DKK 60,000 in the event of death or disability. If these conditions are not satisfied at the outset, the company shall make efforts to ensure that the scheme is modified. In connection with any future modifications to contribution levels, the company may withhold an amount of the employee's pay equal to the employee's contribution to the pension scheme stipulated in the collective agreement.

At least 50 per cent of the contribution to a pension scheme shall be used for a lifelong benefit (annuity).

Where a pension is phased in, payments shall first be made to the insurance elements stipulated in the collective agreement, such that the proportion of the pension contribution to be used for an annuity may be less than 50 per cent.

The above requirement applies to all pension schemes covered by the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement.

Pension agreements already entered into at companies covered by the collective agreement, where the pension contribution to an instalment and/or capital pension exceeds 50 per cent, may be retained. Similarly, agreements entered into with parts of capital chains covered by the collective agreement and members of Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver that differ from the above may be retained by shops/departments owned by the same capital chain that were not covered by the collective agreement at the outset.

Companies covered by the collective agreement in the future – whether they are current or future members of Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver – will fall under a pension obligation from the date on which the collective agreement comes into force. The conditions under which existing pension agreements entered into for such companies may be considered to satisfy the pension obligations laid down in the collective agreement are that the agreements should have been entered into before the request for a collective agreement was made, that the conditions listed above concerning compliance with other agreements should be satisfied (requirements relating to the benefit structure), and that any modification to the agreements that may be needed should be made no later than six months after the collective agreement has entered into force.

In groups, the same principles of compliance with existing agreements shall apply as in companies in general in relation to this agreement. However, a company within a group that is covered by the collective agreement but does not have an existing pension agreement may meet the pension obligation set out in the collective agreement via an existing pension agreement applied elsewhere in the group. This shall only apply, however, if this agreement is generally applied within the group, and if the agreement in the company concerned covers all employees under the collective agreement in that company.

2. GROSS PAY AGREEMENTS

Gross pay agreements, i.e. agreements that stipulate that the pay should be determined on the basis of the employee taking the initiative to establish a pension scheme and finance the contributions from their pay, shall be respected provided that they can be documented and were entered into before the end of December 1992, and on these further conditions:

Under a gross pay agreement, a pension scheme has to be established that meets the requirements for existing agreements laid down in the present agreement, cf. above concerning contributions to existing schemes. A gross pay agreement that the employee did not follow up by establishing a pension scheme before 1 November 1993 – or for companies covered by the collective agreement in the future, no later than three months after the collective agreement entered into force – must be followed up at the request of the company to ensure that a pension scheme is established.

In this connection, the company may withhold an amount of the employee's gross pay equal to the contribution to the pension scheme stipulated in the collective agreement (the sum of the agreed employee's and employer's contributions). If this has not been done before the deadline, a pension scheme for the employees concerned shall be established within the scheme established by the parties to the collective agreement. The full amount shall be withheld by the company from the gross pay and paid to the pension company.

Gross pay agreements entered into from 1 January 1993 onwards shall be followed up by establishing a pension scheme within the scheme

founded by the parties, and again the company may withhold an amount of the employee's gross pay equal to the contribution to the pension scheme stipulated in the collective agreement (the sum of the agreed employee's and employer's contributions).

3. OFFSET

Where a company is already meeting its pension obligations in accordance with the collective agreement, no changes shall be made to the total of individual employee's pay and employer's contribution to the scheme as a result of the mandatory pension contribution under the collective agreement, provided that the company makes use of its offset facility under the collective agreement.

4. PHASING IN OF PENSION

A.

Future members of Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver who have joined the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement no later than three months after becoming a member may opt to phase in the pension scheme under the following conditions. However, this excludes companies which HK HANDEL required to join the collective agreement before they became a member of Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver.

B.

The pension scheme shall be phased in as follows:

No later than three months after becoming a member of Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver, but with effect from the first of a month, 25 per cent of the pension contribution applicable on this date shall be paid.

One year after joining, the pension contribution shall be increased to 50 per cent of the pension contribution applicable on this date.

Two years after joining, the pension contribution shall be increased to 75 per cent of the pension contribution applicable on this date.

Three years after joining, the pension contribution shall be increased to the pension contribution stipulated in the collective agreement.

The company's contribution represents 2/3 and the employee's contribution 1/3.

C.

The manner in which the phase-in is to take place shall be specified in each case when a company joins the collective agreement.

D.

The agreement on pension schemes within the collective agreement shall apply.

5. CONDITIONS OF ENTITLEMENT TO A PENSION

All employees shall have a pension scheme in place once the following conditions have been met:

The scheme covers employees who have reached the age of 20, but not trainees.

The employee must have been employed continuously for three months at one or more companies covered by the collective agreement. This length of service requirement set aside in cases where the employee was already covered by an occupational pension scheme based on a collective agreement when they were hired.

For employees who fulfil the aforementioned conditions, it is also the case that other conditions agreed between the parties in order to achieve risk coverage and receive insurance benefits must be met.

For employees who have reached retirement age and where it is not possible to pay premiums for risk insurance, the full pension contribution goes to the old age pension.

For employees who receive old age pension benefits but are still active on the labour market and fulfil the conditions for entitlement to the pension scheme, the company's pension contributions go to an annuity/early retirement pension without insurance elements. The company and the employee may enter into an agreement on the company's contribution being paid as an allowance that does not give entitlement to holiday and which is paid out annually together with the holiday allowance stipulated in the Danish Holiday Act, cf. section 23(2) of the Act. When the employee leaves, this will be paid together with the final wage payment.

Employees who have reached the age of 60 and are not already covered by a pension scheme will not be enrolled in an occupational pension scheme. The company's pension contribution shall be paid to these employees together with their holiday allowance, cf. section 23(2) of the Danish Holiday Act.

Unless otherwise stated in this agreement, the pension scheme shall be set up with:

Pension for salaried employees – PFA Pension Sundkrogsgade 4 DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø Tel.: +45 3917 5000

6. CHANGE OF PENSION PROVIDER

Companies covered by the collective agreement that wish to change their pension provider are permitted to do so.

The following conditions shall be met when there is a change of pension provider:

•

A ballot on the change of pension provider shall be held among the employees at the company who are entitled to a pension. The company will inform the employees of the details and consequences of any change. If a majority of the votes cast are in favour of a change in provider, then this can take place.

•

The conditions set out in the collective agreement for a change of provider must be met.

•

The transfer of the employees' deposits in conjunction with a change must take place at no cost to the employees. No deductions may therefore be made from the deposits by either the ceding company or the receiving company.

Please refer to the guidance on change of pension provider on page 74.

7. FLEXIBLE WAGE ACCOUNT

Please also refer to the rules agreed on the flexible wage account, cf. section 2(12).

8. INDEMNITY

Documentation to show that companies covered by the collective agreement are satisfying the pension provisions of the collective agreement may be provided by way of a declaration from the pension insurance company confirming that the scheme meets the requirements for pension schemes laid down in the collective agreement and that the pension company vouches for this.

9. RISK SURPLUS

Any risk surpluses arising from insurance cover shall be used to adjust the premiums or paid into the funds of those insured.

10. REDEMPTION OF PENSION SCHEME

The pension scheme may only be redeemed if the insured takes up permanent residence abroad. Redemption shall be subject to the applicable tax rules.

Smaller pension funds may be redeemed in accordance with the applicable tax rules. The parties shall agree an upper limit for redemption. As of 1 March 2014, this limit has been set at DKK 8,000.00.

Guidance on change of pension provider

- Shop Workers' Collective Agreement and Salaried Employees' Collective Agreement

for Trade, Knowledge and Service

THE FOLLOWING RULES SHALL APPLY WHEN THERE IS A CHANGE OF PENSION PROVIDER.

These rules are the same within the scope of the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement and Salaried Employees' Collective Agreement for Trade, Knowledge and Services and apply to those employees who are covered by these agreements.

Companies covered by the collective agreement that wish to change their pension provider are permitted to do so. However, this does not apply to companies which have previously had pension agreements with FunktionærPension or which are otherwise covered by the FunktionærPension portfolio in Pension for salaried employees – PFA Pension. Ultimately, companies which have already entered into a pension scheme before entering into the collective agreement, and which will therefore be covered by the Pension for salaried employees on entering into the collective agreement, cannot make a change of pension provider unless the parties come to an agreement on this.

The conditions for changing pension provider are:

A ballot on the change of pension provider shall be held among the employees at the company who are entitled to a pension.

The company must inform the employees of the details and consequences of any change. If a majority of the votes cast are in favour of a change in provider, then this can take place.

•

The conditions set out in the collective agreement for a change of provider must be met. These conditions are that there must be disability and death cover of at least DKK 60,000 and an old age pension.

•

The transfer of the employees' deposits in conjunction with a change must take place at no cost to the employees. Therefore no deductions may be taken from the deposits by either the ceding company or the receiving company.

It is often the company that takes the initiative to change pension providers, sometimes at the request of the employees. It is important for the

employees that the process for changing pension providers should be handled in a satisfactory way.

Consultation committee

If the company has a consultation committee, this must be informed of the company's plans to change pension providers before the formal process is set in motion.

Who should participate in the ballot?

The ballot shall take in those employees eligible for a pension who are covered by the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement and Salaried Employees' Collective Agreement for Trade, Knowledge and Services.

If the company is covered by both the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement and Salaried Employees' Collective Agreement for Trade, Knowledge and Services, a separate ballot shall be held for each agreement.

A list should therefore be produced of employees eligible for a pension who are to take part in the ballot.

In order to be eligible for a pension under the collective agreement, the following conditions must be satisfied on the date of the ballot:

•

The employee must have reached the age of 20. Trainees are not generally eligible for a pension. Traineeships entered into after 1 July 2006 in the office and warehouse sector are however eligible for a pension.

•

The employee must have been employed continuously for three months at one or more companies covered by the collective agreement, unless the employee is already covered by a collective occupational pension scheme upon joining the company.

Information material

The decision to change pension providers may have significant long-term financial consequences for employees' insurance and pension conditions. Any decision to change pension provider should therefore be taken on a well-informed basis.

It is the company's duty to inform the employees of the details and consequences of any change. It may therefore be helpful to produce an overview of the differences between the relevant pension schemes. The information may be drawn up by the relevant pension providers.

The information may be provided in various ways.

The parties recommend that the pension providers should draw up an easily understandable and concise set of information material explaining the advantages and drawbacks of the different products offered by the companies. This written material should be supplemented by the provision of a staff meeting at which information is given and employees have the opportunity to ask questions.

Employees should be given a period of at least 14 days to seek advice and guidance before the ballot on a possible change of pension provider is held.

No costs to employees

A change of pension provider must not entail any costs to those insured. This means that changes of pension provider must not involve any deduction from the insured persons' funds. If the "old" pension provider changes a fee for winding up the fund, the company or the new pension provider shall bear the cost of this.

Insurance brokers

Insurance brokers are independent persons or companies whose role is to obtain the best possible insurance conditions for their customers. Insurance brokers are the company's advisors.

Where an insurance broker is involved in the change of pension provider, it is recommended that the company should inform employees of how the broker is to be paid. This information can be provided together with the other details given to employees in connection with the change of pension provider.

The ballot itself

There are no rules laid down in the collective agreement for the way in which the ballot should be conducted.

The ballot may therefore be handled in the way the company finds most appropriate.

If there is a request for a secret ballot, the company must consider whether to comply with this request.

If doubts are subsequently raised as to whether the ballot was conducted correctly, the company needs to be able to document this.

The parties therefore recommend that the ballot should be held in writing. The company may establish a ballot committee with one representative

from management and one from the staff.

No approval is required.

Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver or HK do not have to approve a change of pension provider.

Collective agreement on pension conditions for employees in flexjobs

For collective agreements within the DA/LO area, including accession agreements, which contain provisions on membership of an occupational pension scheme without a prior health assessment, and which do not have and are unlikely later to include special provisions on pension conditions for employees in flexjobs, cf. Danish Act on Active Social Policy or later legislation on flexjobs, the following shall apply:

SECTION 1

Persons who, when employed in flexjobs pursuant to the Danish Act on Active Social Policy or later legislation on flexjobs, are already covered by or members of one or more pension schemes set up as part of an employment relationship may arrange for their pension contributions to go to the pension scheme that they last paid into.

Persons who, when employed in flexjobs pursuant to the Danish Act on Active Social Policy or later legislation on flexjobs, are not already covered by or members of a pension scheme set up as part of an employment relationship or do not wish to pay into an existing pension scheme may arrange for their pension contributions to go to the pension scheme specified in the collective agreement. These persons shall be admitted to the pension scheme specified in the collective agreement in accordance with the conditions of insurance in place at the date of admission.

SECTION 2

Provisions in collective agreements and other agreements pursuant to these on special pension provisions for flexjob holders shall take precedence over this agreement.

SECTION 3

Where there is any disagreement on exercising the rights laid down in this agreement, this shall be handled according to the normal rules of industrial disputes and employment law.

SECTION 4

This agreement shall take effect from 1 March 2003.

The agreement may be terminated by giving six months' notice to 1 January of any year. If one of the organisations desires any changes to the agreement, it shall inform the other party of this six months prior to termination, whereupon negotiations shall be entered into without recourse to arbitration in order to reach a consensus and so avoid termination of the agreement.

If the negotiations on a renewal after prior termination are not completed by 1 January of the year in question, the agreement shall apply even though the termination date has been exceeded, until the current collective agreements are replaced by new ones, and it shall then lapse when the new collective agreements enter into force.

FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT ON HARASSMENT AND VIOLENCE

Agreement on implementing the framework agreement on harassment and violence at work

HK HANDEL and Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver have entered into the following agreement to implement the European framework agreement between BusinessEurope, UEAPME, CEEP and ETUC on harassment and violence at work of 26 April 2007.

The parties agree that it is a shared responsibility to work to prevent harassment and violence at work, and to follow up on any instances where employees, managers or employers are subjected to bullying, harassment and violence.

The aim of the agreement is to increase awareness and knowledge of bullying, workplace harassment and violence and to provide an actionoriented framework to identify, prevent and manage problems of bullying, harassment and violence at work.

During the period of the collective agreement, the parties will discuss the framework within which problems of bullying, harassment and violence can best be resolved.

The parties intend to develop tools that workplaces can use to prevent and manage bullying and violence. These tools may be developed under the auspices of BAR Handel.

The parties also intend to discuss how knowledge of bullying, harassment and violence can be disseminated to employers, managers and employees.

FIXED-TERM EMPLOYMENT

Agreement on implementing the EU Fixed-term Work Directive

(Council Directive of 28 June 1999)

SECTION 1. PURPOSE

Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL have entered into the following agreement in order to implement the Council Directive on Fixed-term Work in the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement.

The parties to the collective agreement agree that the existing agreement between the parties does not conflict with the provisions of the above Directive, and that this agreement implements the Directive.

The purpose of the agreement is:

a.

to improve the quality of fixed-term work by ensuring the application of the principle of non-discrimination;

b.

to establish a framework to prevent abuse arising from the use of successive fixed-term employment contracts or relationships.

SECTION 2. SCOPE

This agreement shall apply to all employees in fixed-term employment who are covered by the collective agreement entered into between the parties.

The agreement shall not apply to:

a. employees on initial vocational training and apprenticeship schemes;

b. persons supplied to a user company by a temporary staff agency.

SECTION 3. DEFINITIONS

For the purpose of this agreement:

a.

"a fixed-term worker": means a person having an employment contract or relationship entered into directly between an employer and a worker where the end of the employment contract or relationship is determined by objective conditions such as reaching a specific date, completing a specific task, or the occurrence of a specific event.

b.

"a comparable permanent worker": means a worker with an employment contract or relationship of indefinite duration, in the same establishment, engaged in the same or similar work/occupation, due regard being given to qualifications/skills.

Where there is no comparable permanent worker in the same company, the comparison shall be made with a full-time worker covered by one of the collective agreements between the parties.

In respect of employment conditions, fixed-term workers shall not be treated in a less favourable manner than comparable permanent workers solely because they have a fixed-term contract or relationship unless different treatment is justified on objective grounds.

SECTION 4. PRINCIPLE OF NON-DISCRIMINATION

The principle of proportionate pay and proportionate rights shall apply to the area covered by the present agreement.

Length-of-service qualifications in the collective agreement between the parties relating to particular conditions of employment shall be the same for fixed-term workers as for permanent workers except where different length-of-service qualifications are justified on objective grounds.

SECTION 5. PROVISIONS ON ABUSE

To prevent abuse arising from the use of successive fixed-term employment contracts or relationships, the renewal of such employment contracts or relationships shall be based on objective circumstances reflecting the situation of the company or the nature of the work or matters specific to the industry or the employee.

The parties agree that the above text is not intended to bring about any change to the rules and legal practice applicable to workers covered by the existing collective agreement between the parties.

SECTION 6. INFORMATION AND EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES

Employers shall inform fixed-term workers about vacancies which become available at the company to ensure that they have the same opportunity to secure permanent positions as other workers.

Such information may be provided personally via the relevant trade union representatives or by way of a general announcement at a suitable place in the undertaking or establishment.

As far as possible, employers should facilitate access by fixed-term workers to appropriate vocational training opportunities to enhance their skills, career development and occupational mobility.

SECTION 7. INFORMATION AND CONSULTATION

Fixed-term workers shall be taken into consideration in calculating the threshold above which workers' representative bodies provided for in national and Community law may be constituted in the undertaking as required by collective agreements, Acts, etc.

As far as possible, the company should give consideration to the provision of appropriate information to existing bodies representing workers about fixed-term work at the company.

SECTION 8. CONCLUDING PROVISIONS

This agreement shall not affect the protection given to fixed-term employees by the existing collective agreement between the parties.

This agreement is subject to more specific community provisions.

Disputes in relation to this agreement shall be handled according to the normal rules of industrial disputes and employment law.

In the event of termination of the collective agreement, the parties are obliged to comply with the provisions relating to the implementation of the Council Directive on fixed-term work until another agreement takes its place or the Directive is amended. The parties agree that there should be no recourse to arbitration in connection with this implementing agreement.

Agreement on the understanding of the Agreement on implementing the EU Fixed-term Work Directive (Council Directive of 28 June 1999)

Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL have entered into negotiations on implementing the Council Directive on fixed-term work.

In the course of the negotiations, it was agreed that both temporary employees and agency staff are covered by the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement in its entirety, including the rules on working hours. However, it is agreed that working time schedules for both full-time and part-time employees adopted for a period of less than 16 weeks should organise working hours as an average over the number of weeks for which they are employed, as this group cannot be covered by a 16-week plan. With this exception, the general provisions of section 1 on working hours shall apply to temporary employees and agency staff.

It is also agreed that rights to e.g. extra holiday days, maternity/paternity pay, continuing training, child's first day of illness, etc. acquired after 6/9 months' service shall be acquired regardless of whether the length of service has been achieved via several continuous fixed-term employment periods or relationships.

Persons supplied to a user company by a temporary staff agency are not covered by the above.

TRADE UNION REPRESENTATIVES

Trade union agreement on the dismissal of trade union representatives etc.

The parties have agreed that section 8(7) of the national collective agreement for shop workers also applies to members of HK HANDEL who have been elected as trade union representatives or working environment representatives, members of the European Works Council employed in Denmark and board members and substitutes elected by employees at the companies where the national collective agreement for shop workers has not entered into force.

Agreement on regional trade union representatives

Voluntary agreements on regional union representatives may be entered into between the company and the employees where specifically agreed between HK HANDEL and Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver.

RIGHT TO STAND FOR ELECTION

The same rules apply to the right to stand for election as a regional trade union representative as under the general rules for trade union representatives.

HOW CAN A REGIONAL TRADE UNION REPRESENTATIVE BE ELECTED?

The unionised employees in the region can elect a regional union representative from their number.

Where a regional union representative is elected, the election of the existing trade union representatives in the relevant region will lapse.

ELECTION AS A REGIONAL UNION REPRESENTATIVE

The rules in the collective agreement on the election of trade union representatives also apply to the regional trade union representative.

TASKS, OBLIGATIONS AND DISMISSAL OF THE REGIONAL UNION REPRESENTATIVE

The rules in the collective agreement on the tasks and obligations of trade union representatives also apply to the regional union representative.

The rules in the collective agreement on the dismissal of trade union representatives also apply to the regional union representative.

TERMINATION

Corporate agreements on regional trade union representatives may be terminated by either side giving six months' notice.

FOREIGN WORKERS

Agreement on the code for agreements with foreign workers

It is agreed that it may be appropriate for the company to take care of housing, transport, etc. for foreign workers during their stay in Denmark.

It is also agreed that these workers should be able to enter into a voluntary agreement with the company for the purchase of services in connection with the employment relationship, and that in the parties' understanding, making the employment conditional on the workers entering into any such agreement would constitute a breach of the collective agreement.

It is further agreed that these workers, after entering into a voluntary agreement with the company for the purchase of services, shall be able to terminate the agreement by giving one month's notice to the end of a month, unless a different, shorter notice period has been agreed.

Where member companies of Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver enter into such voluntary agreements with their foreign workers, the parties have agreed that the natural thing is for payment for these services to be deducted from their wages.

TRAINING ETC.

Agreement on the Skills Development Fund

1. PURPOSE

The purpose of the HK Handel Skills Development Fund is to provide for the development of employees' skills in order to maintain and enhance the competitiveness of companies in a globalised economy. The purpose of the fund is also to support the development of employees' skills to maintain and enhance their employment opportunities.

With a view to further increased efforts in this area, the parties have established the HK Handel Skills Development Fund, which is intended to provide grants for employees to attend skills development activities of their choice.

With this agreement, the parties wish to create a dynamic basis for the use and administration of resources that the parties agree to allocate according to section 7(1), point d of the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement. The aim is for these resources to be used for the benefit of employees' employment opportunities, in both the short and the long term. At the same time, the competitiveness of the retail sector should be promoted in the best possible way.

2. TIME OFF FOR TRAINING

The entitlement to time off for training laid down in the collective agreements has been extended to allow time for self-selected training relevant to employment within the scope of the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement. A condition of entitlement to time off for training that the company does not consider relevant to the company is that the employee can obtain a grant for this training according to the rules for skills development support set out below.

Employees with a minimum of nine months' service shall be given an annual entitlement to two weeks' time off for self-selected training relevant to their employment within the scope of the collective agreement.

This time off may be used, for example, for training at both basic and advanced levels, for both general and vocational continuing training and to take part in an assessment of prior learning in the public sector and relevant private-sector schemes.

Pilot scheme:

Employees who enrol on a vocational training programme leading to a technical qualification within the retail sector, cf. section 7(1), point e of the collective agreement, may apply to www.kompetencefonde.dk for assistance with course fees, transport, any course materials and reimbursement for lost earnings for the completion of the planned training for up to five weeks a year in the period in which vocational training is undertaken by agreement with the company.

It is a condition of support from the skills development fund that the employee should also apply for an adult education (VEU) grant or for state educational support for adults.

Workers employed in companies that administer their own skills development fund resources – and only in connection with an agreement on vocational training that leads to a vocational qualification – may also apply to the skills development fund for support.

It is agreed that the above is a pilot scheme applicable only in the period of the collective agreement. The pilot scheme will therefore lapse on 29 February 2020.

3. GRANT

A.

The company shall pay a sum equal to DKK 400.00 per year per full-time employee covered by the collective agreement. For part-time employees, this amount shall be reduced pro rata.

B. Basis for calculation

The contribution shall be calculated from the number of employees covered by the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement.

C.

Employees covered by the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement can apply for a grant according to the rules set out below.

4. HK HANDEL SKILLS DEVELOPMENT FUND

A.

The parties to the collective agreement have established a jointly-owned scheme to administer the contributions made according to section 3. The specific guidelines for this are laid down in the statutes of the skills development fund. The parties shall be equally represented on the board of the fund.

- B. The board of the fund shall make specific decisions on:
 - the administration and collection of contributions;
 - guidelines for allocation, cf. point d;
 - accounts etc., as the fund's accounts are subject to auditing;

the determination and collection of VEU contributions, where this task is transferred to the parties in the labour market.

The board of the fund can also define guidelines for reporting of skills development support administered within the company, in addition to the rules in section 5.

C. Requests for grants

Resources from the fund can be applied for by employees who are employed in a company covered by the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement if the company has not established its own skills development account etc., cf. point (5). Applications shall be forwarded via the company, which will confirm that the employment is covered by the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement and also provide details of the employee's wages.

D. Application

Within the financial capacity of the fund, the Skills Development Fund may provide grants for employees' training activities covered by section 7(1), points c, d and e of the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement.

E.

It is a condition of eligibility for a grant that the company does not pay all or part of the employee's wages during the training.

The resources may be used for

grants for external training costs (course fees and materials, travel costs, etc.)

grants to cover part of employees' lost wages during training, up to an amount that, together with any public reimbursement of lost wages, makes up 85 per cent of personal pay excluding shift allowance.

In allocating support, a reasonable balance should be sought among the different occupational groups covered by the collective agreement in relation to the payments made.

5. SKILLS DEVELOPMENT SUPPORT ADMINISTERED WITHIN THE COMPANY

A.

Member companies that themselves wish to administer the training resources may administer and pay out the resources mentioned in point a of section 3. The company must have established a training committee and have at least 80 employees covered by point b of section 3.

B.

If the requirement laid down in point a is no longer satisfied, the company will be covered by section 4 with effect from the next calendar year. Any

residual balance from the company's skills development account shall be transferred to the HK Handel Skills Development Fund.

C. Local budgets and plans

The company shall take steps to ensure that high-level budgets and priorities for the use of skills development account resources are established in consultation with employees.

It is the company's training committee that establishes the criteria for awarding grants. The company's training committee should define the criteria for awarding grants. Grants may only be paid according to the rules given in point d of section 4. Grants cannot therefore be given for training that the company decides to provide under section 7 of the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement.

The planning should take account of the possibility of awarding grants for both skills development aimed at qualifying employees for other functions within the company and skills development to enhance the individual employee's qualifications and opportunities for employment within the scope of the collective agreement.

Where agreed locally, the skills development account may be used for other training when the employee leaves the company.

D. Allocation

Employees can apply for a grant within the limits of point c. The training committee bears the overall responsibility for the criteria for allocating resources, cf. point c. It is a prerequisite for allocating a grant that resources must be available in the skills development account. The training committee may decide that resources should be collected in the account for use in future training activities. Unless otherwise agreed, any unused resources in excess of one year's payments shall be transferred to the HK Handel Skills Development Fund. The company's training manager shall assess whether the application meets the criteria and falls within the budgets defined by the training committee, and shall allocate grants on this basis. If a grant is refused, the employee is entitled to receive a written explanation of the reason for this, and the trade union representative may ask to have the matter examined as an industrial dispute following consultation with the training committee. The matter cannot however be referred for industrial arbitration.

E. Administration

The company shall ensure that its skills development account is kept topped up. The company's audit function shall certify, along with the annual report, that resources have been allocated and used or transferred in accordance with these rules. The company's compliance with its obligation to calculate, direct and settle course accounts shall be handled solely according to the rules for handling disputes, cf. section 9, including any industrial arbitration.

Once a year, companies that manage their own skills development funds may withdraw an administration contribution for the company corresponding to the calculated administration percentage for the HK Handel Skills Development Fund for the financial year in question. This withdrawal may take place when the HK Handel Skills Development Fund's financial statements are completed and approved.

Employees who are representatives in the company's training committee are permitted one day off per year to participate in an ERFA meeting held by HK HANDEL. The employee shall be compensated for lost wages and receive reimbursement for transport expenses from the company's skills development fund.

6. OTHER COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT AREAS

A.

Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver may decide to allow other collective agreement areas or other companies to be included in the scheme established under section 3. The accounting shall be separate so that resources from one area cannot be used in another.

B.

Companies that follow the provisions in the Shop Workers' Collective Agreement without being members of Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver, e.g. in accession agreements, shall pay into the HK Handel Skills Development Fund. The board of the fund may order these companies to pay a cost-based administration charge for the processing of applications from these companies and their employees. The board of the fund shall ensure that payments into and out of the fund from these companies and to their employees are kept separate from the point of view of accounting from the resources of member companies of Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver.

7. DOUBT REGARDING INTERPRETATION

If there is a discrepancy between the contents of the collective agreement and the Agreement on the Skills Development Fund, the latter shall take precedence.

8. BASIC CONDITIONS OF THE SCHEME

If the Danish Parliament adopts rules in the period of the collective agreement that impose additional payment obligations or other obligations in the area of continuing training on the parties to the collective agreement, member companies and/or employees, the present agreement shall lapse.

Agreement on derogations from the Agreement on the Skills Development Fund

An agreement has been made to deviate from the Agreement on the Skills Development Fund that forms part of the collective agreement in the following areas:

1.

The condition in the agreement requiring six months' service for entitlement to time off for self-selected training, cf. section 2(2) of the agreement, shall not apply in the period of the collective agreement. There is therefore no length of service requirement in the collective agreement period.

However, the right to self-selected training does not apply during the notice period, cf. section 7(1), point d, paragraph 2, and trainees' right to support for training outside working hours, cf. section 6(1), point k, where the length of service requirement of six months is upheld.

2.

The condition in the agreement stating that grants to cover part of employees' lost wages during training cannot exceed an amount that, together with any public reimbursement of lost wages, makes up 85 per cent of the personal pay, cf. section 4 of the agreement, shall be amended in the collective agreement period so as to cover 100 per cent of personal pay.

The agreement shall apply in the collective agreement period and shall lapse without further notice on 29 February 2020.

Agreement on handling failure to report to/

pay into the Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL skills development fund

In the current scheme, Kompetencefonde.dk is responsible for collecting contributions to the HK Handel Skills Development Fund ("the skills development fund") on behalf of the trade unions. Kompetencefonde.dk sends letters to the companies explaining how reporting and payment should be handled.

FAILURE TO REPORT

Based on reports to Kompetencefonde.dk from Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver, Kompetencefonde.dk notifies the companies that they are required to report via kompetencefonde.dk. If the company does not report, Kompetencefonde.dk reminds the company twice before forwarding details of the lack of reporting to Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver. Kompetencefonde.dk supplies details of the failure to report to Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver 14 days after sending the second reminder.

On receipt of these details from Kompetencefonde.dk, Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver has six weeks to ensure that the company reports to Kompetencefonde.dk.

After this deadline, Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver will forward a list of companies that have still not reported to the skills development fund to HK HANDEL in accordance with the reminder procedure from Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver.

An organisation meeting shall be held at the request of either of the parties. This request shall be submitted no later than 14 days after Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver has sent HK HANDEL the list of member companies that have not reported.

HK HANDEL will then send the cases to the Danish Confederation of Trade Unions (LO) with a view to convening a joint meeting.

FAILURE TO PAY

Based on reports to Kompetencefonde.dk, Kompetencefonde.dk sends a bill to the company. If the company does not pay, Kompetencefonde.dk reminds the company twice before forwarding details of the failure to pay to Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver. Kompetencefonde.dk supplies details of the failure to pay to Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver 14 days after sending the second reminder.

On receipt of these details from Kompetencefonde.dk, Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver has six weeks to ensure that the company pays the amount billed.

After this deadline, Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver will forward a list of companies that still have not paid into the skills development fund to HK HANDEL in accordance with the reminder procedure from Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver.

An organisation meeting shall be held at the request of either of the parties. This request shall be submitted no later than 14 days after Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver has sent HK HANDEL the list of companies that have not paid.

HK HANDEL will then send the cases to the Danish Confederation of Trade Unions (LO) with a view to convening a joint meeting.

AGREEMENT ON THE IMPOSITION OF FINES

Dansk Erhverv Arbejdsgiver and HK HANDEL have agreed the following system of fines in cases concerning the skills development fund, where reporting/payment has not taken place before the case was passed to HK HANDEL:

- · Failure to report or delayed reporting to the skills development fund
- · Failure to pay or delayed payment of contributions

	1st time	2nd time	3rd time	Subsequen t times
--	----------	----------	----------	----------------------

Failure to report				
Out-of-court fine	DKK 2,000	DKK 4,000	DKK 6,500	Same
Failure to pay				
Out-of-court fine	Min. DKK 2,000 or 20 per cent	Min. DKK 4,000 or 20 per cent	Min. DKK 6,500 or 20 per cent	Same
Failure to report				
Fine agreed at joint meetings	DKK 3,000	DKK 5,500	DKK 8,250	Same
Failure to pay				
Fine agreed at joint meeting	Min. DKK 3,000 or 25 per cent	Min. DKK 5,500 or 25 per cent	Min. DKK 8,250 or 25 per cent	Same

The reference period for repeated instances is the preceding three years.

The present agreement enters into force on 1 January 2012 for cases of failure to report/pay from the 2012 payment and reporting year onwards. Either party may terminate the agreement by giving three months' notice, but no earlier than the end of the collective agreement period beginning on 1 March 2012.

Agreement on joint training and cooperation activities

With a view to strengthening continuing vocational education and cooperation in the retail sector, the parties have established a scheme involving outreach training ambassadors/party consultants.

The training ambassadors/party consultants shall:

•

Visit companies which fall under the collective agreement and inspire more continuing vocational training activity.

٠

Contribute to skills assessment and advise on the planning of specific training opportunities.

•

Inform, guide and inspire in order to promote cooperation between companies. The training ambassadors/party consultants shall work together closely, and each organisation shall hire the necessary staff.

The agreement is valid for the duration of the collective agreement.

The board of the Training and Cooperation Fund for Retail will set the detailed rules for the scheme, including the training ambassadors'/party consultants' tasks and terms and conditions of employment.

The parties agree that the scheme will be financed by the Training and Cooperation Fund.

A budget shall be set for each of the three years that the activity will run. The budget shall be approved by the parties to the collective agreement.

Agreement on training committees etc.

(self-administration of skills development funds)

The parties have agreed that self-administration of skills development funds shall be permitted on the following conditions:

REPRESENTATION

A joint training committee for which employees can elect representatives shall be established at companies that self-administrate.

In the event that employees in the company have elected a trade union representative, this person is a member of the training committee. At companies with several trade union representatives, these must decide amongst themselves who shall be the representative(s) for the area covered by the collective agreement.

All employees elected to the training committee shall satisfy the same conditions as those for being eligible for election as trade union representative in the area covered by the collective agreement.

The parties agree that where a consultation committee exists, the training committee may constitute a sub-committee of this.

JOINT ADMINISTRATION

Joint administration may take place between one of several other skills development funds in the areas of the collective agreement, on the

condition that HK HANDEL is represented in the training committee.

Only representatives representing employees covered by collective agreements with "self-administrated" skills development funds can participate in the decision process for allocation of funds.

If there is joint administration in other areas of the collective agreement, an employee-elected representative for the collective agreement area will be entitled – via HK HANDEL – to request organisation meetings if the representative is of the opinion that there is a division of funds that does not favour the employees covered by the collective agreement.

If the matter is not resolved at the meeting, the collective agreement area can be withdrawn from joint administration following the organisation meeting with prospective effect so that the next payment will be made to the relevant skills development fund for the collective agreement area.

Agreement on agreed qualification improvement

Employees are entitled to qualification improvement up to full university education level (60 ECTS credits) over a period of three years. This means that they are free to enrol on a training course lasting no more than 12 weeks, corresponding to 10 days of leave per academic module of 10 ECTS credits.

Conditions of this improvement include:

•

The training course having been agreed with the employer

The employee exercising their right to no more than six years of self-selected training, accumulated in the two years (years 1 and 2) before the training starts and is completed (years 3, 4 and 5)

The 10 days of self-selected training earned in the year following a completed university training course (year 6) shall also be considered to have been used in connection with the training course

•

The employee will receive their usual wages during training and course fees, materials, etc. will be covered as is customary for self-selected training

To the extent the use of the skills development fund, cf. this agreement, creates a lot of pressure on the fund's resources, the parties agree that the Board of Directors will set limits on its use for this purpose.

The company can apply to the skills development fund for 100 per cent salary compensation for such agreements, assessed when calculating grants for self-selected training, offset by the State Educational Support for Adults scheme. This also applies to self-administrating companies.

The board of the skills development fund shall determine the recommended academic course on the basis of the existing positive list.

The parties agree that this agreement will be evaluated by the board of the skills development fund no later than 1 January 2019. The board of the skills development fund may recommend adjustments to the agreement during the collective agreement period.

The agreement shall enter into force on 1 September 2017. It is agreed that the above is a pilot scheme applicable only during the period of the collective agreement. The pilot scheme will therefore lapse on 29 February 2020.

WELFARE

Agreement on welfare

To assure the companies of a workforce in the future and particularly to support the continued development of welfare, there is a need to create a labour market with room in it for all.

The parties will work to ensure that vulnerable groups such as disabled people have access to the labour market and that older people remain in the labour market for longer.

A high drop-out rate of trainees from vocational training means that many young people have a limited connection to the labour market. The parties therefore agree on the need for initiatives to promote the training for those who have difficulty with the practical aspects of their training. Here the parties intend to launch initiatives to help these trainees, e.g. by establishing a project for a mentoring scheme. Experience in this area will be discussed regularly as a basis for possible further initiatives to help retain trainees in this area.

The parties want to reduce absence through illness and safeguard the connection of pregnant women to the labour market.

To achieve these goals, there is a need for agreements in the labour market on:

- A more inclusive labour market
- Older people
- · Reduction of absence due to illness
- Space for pregnant women in the workplace

In conjunction with the demographic trend towards more elderly and fewer young people, the Danish labour market will experience an increasing demand for workers. There is thus a need to ensure that more groups within society spend more active years in the labour market than they do today.

With these agreements, the parties are paving the way towards a much more inclusive labour market, making room for more people to enter the labour market or to remain in the labour market for longer. The parties will therefore work in both the short and the long term to increase the level of employment in society.

The options are described in more detail within the individual areas.

There is a conspicuous desire to be involved in the labour market among many groups today. As we can also foresee a shortage of workers in the future, it is in everybody's interests that more groups should have a firm footing in the labour market.

The agreements are intended to ensure that older people naturally extend their time in the labour market and that space is made for vulnerable groups within society in a more diverse labour market.

The parties agree that there is a large pool of workers among immigrants and their descendants. As part of the implementation of the agreement, the parties have therefore given a high priority to models for better integration. Extending the time that older people remain in the labour market and reducing absence due to illness will also help to increase the workforce, while also enabling individuals to maintain a continued connection to the labour market. The parties also believe that there should be a greater focus on employing disabled people.

The parties are therefore prioritising the development of models in these areas.

It should be stressed that the areas covered by the agreements can best be addressed by discussion based on the industry, the size of company and other matters with a bearing on the individual workplace.

The agreement shall form the basis for future work in the companies. The parties recommend that the matter be discussed in the individual workplace with a view to finding solutions adapted to the individual workplace.

The parties urge any policies relating to welfare to be drawn up by the consultation committee.

At companies without a consultation committee, but with an elected trade union representative, the parties recommend that policies relating to welfare be drawn up in collaboration with the trade union representative.

At smaller companies without a trade union representative, it is natural for matters relating to welfare to be discussed between individual employees and the management of the company.

THE INCLUSIVE LABOUR MARKET

The demographic trend towards fewer young and more elderly people means that there is a place for everyone in the labour market.

It is important to ensure greater flexibility in the labour market so that as many people as possible, including vulnerable groups within the labour market, are offered employment throughout their working lives regardless of the degree of temporary or permanent reduction in their capacity for work, and so that they are able to enter and remain in the labour market.

The parties are keen for an inclusive labour market policy to be drawn up as part of general HR policy within the companies.

The aim is to promote the employment of vulnerable groups in the labour market.

Vulnerable groups include:

•

Current employees who need to work on specially agreed terms because of a reduced capacity for work

Immigrants and refugees who need to integrate into Danish society

.

The long-term unemployed

•

Other persons covered by the Danish Active Employment Promotion Act, social legislation, etc.

Persons at risk of permanent exclusion from the labour market

.

Disabled people

Companies and their employees are urged to give vulnerable groups increased opportunities for employment.

People with mental health difficulties

Concrete forms of employment may include:

- Job training
- •

Revalidation

•

Employment with wage supplement

Flexjob

•

Light job

Other jobs with support schemes, e.g. by way of internships, personal mentors and introduction to normal employment

•

Early retirement pensioners in specific jobs

Job rotation

Adult education scheme

Skills development pathway

•

Job revalidation

The posts shall generally promote employment or ensure that the vulnerable groups retain their jobs within the company.

The parties agree that there are no provisions within the collective agreement to prevent the individual company from using statutory assistance schemes as a means of promoting opportunities for employment for jobless and disabled people in the labour market.

Vulnerable groups employed under this agreement shall be included where appropriate in the company's various training programmes and offerings, skills development and upgrading of qualifications.

Every effort will be made to ensure that agreements of the kind set out above do not involve any dismissals.

OLDER PEOPLE POLICY

The knowledge and experience of older employees are an essential resource to the companies. It is therefore important that older employees should remain as long as possible in the labour market, so that their knowledge and experience can be used within the companies.

It is important to create greater flexibility in the labour market, so that as many people as possible are offered employment throughout their working lives and remain in work for as long as possible.

The purpose of the agreement is to promote the use of the capacity, experience and resources of older employees to the benefit of the company and to the benefit of the individual employee, and to provide for continued development for both parties.

The parties urge that an older people policy should be drawn up as part of general HR policy within the companies.

The aim of an older people policy is:

•

to provide for continued development for the company and the employees;

to promote job satisfaction for older employees;

•

to highlight the value of older employees as an asset to the whole workplace;

to ensure that the job provides a good basis for life after work.

Specific older people policy measures, taking into account the interests of both the company and the employee, may include: flexibility in the organisation of work, relocation/redeployment, the option of flexible job schemes and/or retirement, retirement jobs, flexible working hours,

including reduced working hours, consultancy/ad-hoc tasks, etc.

The desires and needs of the company and the employee for employment at an older age shall be discussed at the annual staff appraisal or when either of the parties wishes it.

Agreements on changes in working conditions must not stand in the way of the employee's continued opportunities for training.

The company wishes to ensure that employees cease work on a well-informed and considered basis in terms of both human and financial resources.

ABSENCE DUE TO ILLNESS

The purpose of the agreement is to reduce absence due to illness and to safeguard the connection of employees to the workplace, including promoting initiatives to enable the swiftest possible return to work.

The parties agree that initiatives which promote individual health may help to reduce absence due to illness. Where it is relevant to the companies, the parties urge them to discuss health promotion measures such as a healthy diet, regular exercise, and smoking and alcohol policies.

The reasons for absence due to illness are often very complex and may be related to factors both inside and outside the workplace. That is why it is important when dealing with sick leave to analyse possible causes of partial or complete absence – and, based on this analysis, to try to reduce it.

With this in mind, the parties emphasise the need for dialogue between the person reporting sick and the company as an important tool in both the short and the long term.

The parties are keen for a sick leave policy to be drawn up as part of the general HR policy.

The aim is:

to reduce absence due to illness;

•

to monitor absence due to illness;

•

to maintain the employee's association to the company during periods of illness;

to promote the fastest possible return to work when partly or fully signed off as fit to work;

•

to focus on ways of reducing absence due to illness.

Specific tools might include: procedures for reporting sickness, analyses of the reasons for sick leave, sick leave discussions, , round-table talks, etc.

The parties recommend that the companies work together with doctors and local authorities to focus on ways of using partial sign-offs to enter into so-called "Section 56 agreements" with chronically sick employees and to create openness on the subject within the companies.

The parties recommend focusing on health and exercise in the workplace to prevent absence due to illness.

PREGNANT WOMEN

The aim of this agreement is to offer the highest degree of employment possible, regardless of any reduced capacity for work brought about by pregnancy, and to ensure that pregnant women are not excluded from their work as a matter of principle.

The aim is:

•

to avoid unnecessary absence due to illness during pregnancy and hence to assure continued employment until the start of pregnancy leave;

.

to promote the continued employment of pregnant women, possibly by using statements of fitness to work;

to promote awareness among managers and staff of the employment of pregnant women;

•

to promote opportunities for relocation during pregnancy or parts of this time;

to instil attitudes in all employees that allow pregnant women to work and take time off.

With the aim of promoting opportunities for women to work during pregnancy, a common programme of education and information will be implemented, based partly on good examples.

IMPLEMENTATION

During the period of the collective agreement, the parties intend to provide information on the agreement in the most appropriate way, in order to inspire companies and employees to further efforts within the companies.

Specifically, the parties intend to discuss activities in these individual policy areas in the period of the collective agreement:

Absence due to illness
Older people policy
Integration
Disabled people
People with mental health difficulties

The parties also agree that the best way to publish this material is on the parties' websites etc.

The parties intend to help to improve public services in this area by way of contact with and suggestions to the job centres (LGDK), the regions and the State, to improve dialogue between employees, employers and public authorities.

The parties agree to work during the period of the collective agreement to produce a report on possible barriers to flexible retirement from the labour market.

The parties agree during the period of the collective agreement to discuss other possible barriers in these areas, and the parties will discuss developments each year with a view to promoting the objective of keeping more people in work.

Consequences of new legislation in the area will be discussed between the parties on a regular basis during the period of the collective agreement.

AGENCY STAFF

Agreement on information relating to the use of temporary agency staff

Where an industrial dispute case regarding temporary agency employees is initiated against a temporary staff agency that has not adopted a collective agreement (and is therefore covered by the Danish Temporary Agency Workers Act), the user company to which the agency staff have been sent, shall, upon request from one of the parties to the collective agreement, provide information on the local agreements and customs with which the company informed the temporary staff agency it must comply for the work functions carried out by the agency staff at the company.

This provision does not change the fact that only temporary staff agencies which have adopted the collective agreement are responsible for ensuring that the collective agreement etc. is observed in relation to agency staff.

The user company is not responsible for any breach of contract on the part of the temporary staff agency, only for ensuring compliance with the duty of disclosure.

The current agreement entered into force on 1 March 2014 and applies to cases raised after this date.

Agreement on temporary agency staff

This agreement is a supplement to the collective agreement, and thus also applies in full to agency staff.

The following deviations from the general rules of the collective agreement shall apply with respect to the accrual by temporary agency staff of length of service etc.

1. PENSION

The rules below replace section 4(3), points 1 and 2:

A pension is paid to agency staff who either have reached the age of 20 and been in paid employment for the same agency for a total of at least 1,443 hours during the past three years, or have reached the age of 20 and are covered by an occupational pension scheme based on a collective agreement from a previous employment relationship.

A pension is also paid to agency staff who have reached the age of 20 and been in continuous employment for three months at one or more companies covered by the collective agreement.

2. PENSION PROVIDER

The rules below supplement the rules on pension providers in section 4(4) of the collective agreement:

Provided there is agreement between the temporary staff agency and the member of agency staff, an agreement may be drawn up for the pension contribution to be paid into a different scheme within the DA/LO area instead. The purpose of this is so that the temporary staff member can maintain a previously established occupational pension scheme.

3. CHILDBIRTH

The rules below replace section 5(4), point b:

Agency staff who, on the expected date of delivery, have been in paid employment with the same temporary staff agency for at least 1,443 hours within the past three years, or who have completed nine months' service, are entitled to maternity pay from four weeks before the expected date of delivery (pregnancy leave) and up to 14 weeks after the birth (maternity leave). An employee who gives birth at a later date than expected by the doctor/midwife is thus only entitled to pay during pregnancy leave for up to four weeks.

Adoptive parents who have been in paid employment with the same temporary staff agency for at least 1,443 hours within the past three years, or who have completed nine months' service, are paid until 14 weeks after the child enters their custody.

The pay corresponds to the wages that the individual would have received during this period. The amount contains the maximum rate of state benefit laid down in legislation.

Under the same conditions, benefits are paid during paternity leave for up to two weeks.

If the period between two temporary posts for the same temporary staff agency exceeds 12 months, all previously accrued service will lapse.

4. CHILDBIRTH/PENSION

The rules below replace the rules on length of service in section 5(4), point e for the accrual of entitlement to additional pension contributions during maternity leave:

During the 14-week period of maternity leave, the additional pension contributions specified in section 5(4), point e are paid for agency staff who, on the expected date of delivery, have been in paid employment with the same temporary staff agency for at least 1,443 hours within the past three years, or who have completed nine months' service at the temporary staff agency.

If the period between two temporary posts for the same temporary staff agency exceeds 12 months, all previously accrued service will lapse.

5. EXTRA HOLIDAY DAYS

The rules below replace section 5(2), point a:

Agency staff who have been in paid employment with the same temporary staff agency for a total of at least 1,443 hours within the past three years, or who have nine months' continuous service in the temporary staff agency, are entitled to five extra holiday days.

If the period between two temporary posts for the same temporary staff agency exceeds 12 months, all previously accrued service will lapse.

6. CHILDREN'S ILLNESS

The rules below replace section 5(5), point a:

Temporary agency staff who have been in paid employment with the same temporary staff agency for at least 962 hours within the past three years, or who have completed six months' service at the temporary staff agency, are entitled to time off with pay when the time off is necessary to take care of the employee's sick child at home or children under the age of 14.

If the period between two temporary posts for the same temporary staff agency exceeds 12 months, all previously accrued service will lapse.

7. CHILDREN'S ADMISSION TO HOSPITAL

The rules below replace section 5(6), point a:

Agency staff who have been in paid employment with the same temporary staff agency for a total of at least 1,443 hours within the past three years, or who have nine months' continuous service in the temporary staff agency, are granted time off when it is necessary in connection with admission to hospital, including when the admission takes place wholly or partly at home. The rule applies to children under the age of 14.

If the period between two temporary posts for the same temporary staff agency exceeds 12 months, all previously accrued service will lapse.

8. WORK DISPUTES

When HK HANDEL has informed the temporary staff agency in writing that a company is involved in a legal labour dispute, the temporary staff agency must not supply a labour force to the retail area of this company to carry out work affected by the dispute.

9. STATE BENEFIT RULES

Temporary staff agencies must, when giving work to or signing up agency staff, encourage these to find more information on the rules for state benefit for when they are not working.

10. REIMBURSEMENT OF TRANSPORT COSTS

Reimbursement of transport costs is agreed between agency staff and temporary staff agencies.

11. DISPUTES RELATING TO THE QUALITY OF WORK CARRIED OUT BY AGENCY STAFF

In the event of any disputes between the temporary staff agency and user company regarding the quality of work carried out by agency staff, the member of agency staff is always entitled to the agreed wage.

12. AFFILIATE AGREEMENT

The parties recommend that the temporary staff agency supplies an affiliate agreement to the member of agency staff as soon as possible after the member of agency staff starts at their first temporary post for the temporary staff agency. The Confederation of Danish Enterprise has prepared a standard affiliate agreement that the Confederation of Danish Enterprise members can download from www.danskerhverv.dk.

If the temporary staff agency is obliged to prepare proof of employment in accordance with the Danish Employment Contract Act, this affiliate agreement and a job confirmation letter shall constitute the member of agency staff's proof of employment.

13. FLEXIBLE WAGE ACCOUNT

The temporary staff agency may choose to pay the applicable percentage rate, cf. section 2(12), to the member of agency staff together with payment of wages on an ongoing basis. It is an express requirement that this amount should appear separately on the member of agency staff's wage slip.

14. DURATION OF TEMPORARY POSTS

The parties recommend that the temporary staff agency, to the extent possible, offers temporary posts of a duration reflecting the agreement entered into between the temporary staff agency and the user company.

In the event of an extension of the temporary post, the parties also recommend that the temporary staff agency, insofar as possible, informs the member of agency staff of the extension before the end of the period initially agreed.

INDEX

16-week period 6, 7, 49 45 working hours 6 50 per cent rule 44, 45, 60 А administration contributions 92 adoption 24 time off in lieu 11, 70, 71 agreement on pension schemes 22, 74, 77 unemployment insurance fund 44, 59 old age pension 21, 74, 77, 79 length of service 13, 18, 20, 24, 27, 28, 31, 33, 34, 35, 51, 52, 85, 86, 89, 93, 105, 106, 107 length of service requirement 21, 77, 93 employment contracts 48 Danish Employment Contract Act 48, 107 work in continuous operation 69 timing of work 7,8 occupational pension scheme 21, 77, 80, 82, 105 working environment 42,48 health and safety courses 42 working environment representative 42, 43 Danish Labour Court 41 occupational injury insurance 29 working hours 6, 9, 29, 68 part-time employees 6, 13, 14, 18, 22, 27, 34, 36, 37, 51, 52, 53, 55, 61, 68, 74, 86, 89 trainees 10, 14, 16, 21, 22, 28, 29, 30, 31, 61, 77, 98 full-time employees 13, 19, 52, 55 middle managers 19, 20, 67, 68, 69 temporary employees and agency staff 9, 13 open on Sundays 7,8 change to working hours 8 Working Time Directive 6, 49, 50 working time schedules 6,86 ATP contributions 19

B

childbirth/maternity leave 24, 29, 86, 105, 106 parental leave 20, 24, 26, 27, 59, 60 travel expenses 30 employment opportunities 85, 88 conditions entitlement to a pension 21, 77 change of pension provider 22, 78, 79, 80, 81 fine/compensation 48 bonus 12, 18, 20 time off for dependants 17, 28, 73 children's admission to hospital 27 incomplete months 18, 74 shop assistants 4, 12, 13, 16, 65, 66

С

harassment and violence at work 83

D

rate of state benefit 24, 25, 105 DA/LO Development Fund 36 part-time 13, 52, 53, 61 part-time employee 13, 51 part-time work 51, 52, 53 Part-time Work Directive 51, 53 inclusive labour market 100 Fixed-term Work Directive 83, 86 documentation 78 illness 9, 22, 23, 24, 27, 28, 36, 59, 102 Е continuing training 32, 33, 86 existing pension agreements 75 Electronic documents 56, 106 trainee transport 30 trainees 28, 29 length of service 18, 31 working hours 29 childbirth/maternity leave 24, 29, 86 travel 30 travel expenses 30 vocational college 28 final examination 30, 35 pregnancy 24, 29, 62, 103 residential business college 30 higher technical examination 14, 16 board and lodging 30 training officers 31 over the age of 21 15 pension 16, 21, 32, 72, 74, 76, 77 placement abroad 30 college enrolment 29 distance to and from college 30 upper secondary school leaving certificate 14, 16 illness 29 supplements/allowance 7, 10, 11, 13, 14, 16, 20, 21, 46, 67, 70, 77, 91, 93 Dispute Board 31 training managers 29, 92 training plan 29, 31, 35 training centre 29 adult education 20,89 ERFA meeting 92 vocational college 28 Danish Act on Vocational Training 28, 29

F

union notices 39 vocational qualification 35, 66, 89 industrial arbitration 41, 45, 50, 72, 92 final examination 30, 35 industrial dispute procedures 40, 53, 57, 64 holiday 9, 17, 19, 23, 29, 36, 42, 57, 58, 59, 60, 73, 74 extra holiday days 16, 17, 23, 24, 72, 73, 86 holiday card 23, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60 flexjob 55, 82, 100 flexitime schemes 10, 11, 69 parental leave 24, 25, 26 Parental Leave Directive 28 force majeure 28 negotiations 12, 31, 45, 50, 65, 71 discrimination 51, 52, 62, 63, 65, 84, 85 shift allowance 10, 18, 20, 91 trials of new pay systems 18 expected date of delivery 24, 105 parental leave 26 leaving 18, 24, 43, 59, 74 absence 19, 23, 24, 28, 36, 62, 74, 103 waived if there is a separate agreement 7 day off 69 Flexible wage account 16, 17, 22, 28, 54, 66, 67, 72, 73, 78 full-time employee 34, 36, 51, 58, 84, 89 salaried employees 21, 22, 43, 46, 74, 77, 79

FunktionærPension 22, 79 function-based pay 67, 69, 71, 72, 74 physical or mental stress 50

G

guarantee 23, 59 average weekly working hours 6, 9, 44, 49, 68 average over 16 weeks 6 compensation/reimbursement 30, 40, 41, 48, 63, 64, 89 pregnancy 24, 29, 62, 103 pregnancy leave 24, 105 Constitution Day 9,69 Н residential business college 30 HK Handel Skills Development Fund 31, 34, 40, 88, 90, 91, 92, 93 health problems 49,50 higher commercial examination 14, 15, 16 higher technical examination 14, 16 consultation 64, 85, 92 Main agreement 41,64 Main committee 42

I

non-salaried employees 8, 43 phasing in of pension and flexible wage account contributions 66, 74 objection 37 information 53, 55, 64, 85

J

jobs with support schemes 100 Christmas Eve 9

K

compensation 23, 24, 38 compensatory leave 7, 74 skills assessment procedure 35 skills development 32, 88, 91, 101 groups (of companies) 75 board and lodging 30 course fees 33 students on short-cycle higher education programmes 16, 31

L

doctor's note 24 executive posts 46 equal pay case 65 local agreements 56, 69, 70, 104 pay 12, 13, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 33, 34, 38, 43, 44, 46, 54, 57, 58, 59, 61, 62, 63, 64, 66, 67, 68, 69, 72, 73, 74, 76, 86, 90, 91, 93, 97, 105, 106, 107 part-time 13 trainees 14, 16, 21, 22, 28, 29 skilled workers 12 students on short-cycle higher education programmes 16, 31 temporary employees and agency staff 9, 13 unskilled workers 13 young people under 18 10, 14 wage determination 62, 67, 68, 71 pay systems 18,71 pay system committee 18 lost wages 33, 91, 92, 93 reimbursement of lost wages 33, 89, 91, 93 wage progression 37

М

staff appraisals 32

middle managers 19, 67 qualifications 35 qualifying courses 35 extra work and overtime work 6 temporary employees 86 disparities 12, 71, 72

N

night workers 48, 50 night-time period 50 reduced working hours 101 reduced capacity for work 100, 103 normal working hours 6 New Year's Eve 9

0

objective grounds 52, 84, 85 early retirement pension 21, 77 training officers 31 termination 18, 23, 31, 43, 44, 50, 53, 56, 69, 70, 82, 86 notice periods 43 notices 39, 85 anti-union behaviour 41 organisation meeting 40, 42, 94, 97 leave 24, 25 overtime work 6, 10, 11, 29, 32, 49, 68, 70, 71 overtime pay 13, 67, 69, 71 non-standard agreements 61 collective agreement request 44

Р

breaks 8, 69 pension 16, 20, 21, 32, 72, 74, 76, 77, 105, 106 HR policy 100, 101, 102 Personal pay 12, 66 commission 12, 18, 20

R

reimbursement 25 regional trade union representatives 37, 87 performance-related pay 12, 18 retirement jobs 101 risky work 50 inclusive labour market 100 round-table talks 100, 102 on-call shifts 69

S

very confidential nature 46 special responsibility 19 consultation committee 33, 79, 87, 96 self-administration 61,96 self-selected training 31, 34, 89, 93 older people policy 101, 103 change of pension provider 21,78 college enrolment 29 time spent at college 29, 30, 31 trainees 16, 29, 30, 31 distance to and from college 30 written working time schedule 6 weekday holidays 9, 13, 14, 19, 74 open on Sundays 7,8 acting/substitute trade union representative 36, 37 upper secondary school leaving certificate 14, 15, 16 illness 9, 11, 22, 23, 24, 27, 28, 36, 54, 59, 71, 102

absence due to illness 98, 102, 103 sick leave policy 102 sick leave discussions 102 Symbol 16-week period 6, 7, 49 45 working hours 6 50 per cent rule 44, 45, 60 systematic assessment 12

Т

keyboard work 42 fixed-term employment/work 83, 84, 85, 86 supplements/allowance 7, 10, 11, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 20, 21, 46, 55, 57, 67, 70, 77, 91, 93 supplement for work at specific times 67 trade union representative 36, 37, 39, 40, 41, 42, 56, 69, 87, 96, 99 Danish Labour Court 41 union notices 39 industrial dispute procedures 53 compensation/reimbursement 40 notices 39,85 anti-union behaviour 41 acting/substitute trade union representative 36, 37 fees/remuneration 35, 38, 39 tasks of the trade union representative 37, 87 transport 30, 33, 88, 89, 92 solemn declaration 24, 27 compelling reasons 40, 41 Dispute Board 31

U

training 12, 13, 15, 18, 29, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 40, 53, 65, 71, 85, 89, 90, 91, 93, 97, 102 training agreement 14, 15, 37 training managers 29, 92 Training and Cooperation Fund for the Retail Area 33, 35, 39 training plan 29, 31, 35 training centre 29 training committee 33, 34, 91, 92, 96 foreign workers 88 accidents 28 young people under 18 10, 14 young people under 25 10 disputes 12, 31, 41, 42, 45, 50, 53, 57, 72, 82, 86, 92

V

significant changes 8 election as trade union representative 37, 87 welfare 98, 99 temporary staff agency 60, 84, 86, 104, 105, 106, 107 agency staff 9, 13, 32, 60, 86, 104, 105, 106, 107 internal courses 33

w

time off at weekends 7